
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Constitutional and Nomination 
Committee 
 
 
Date: Wednesday, 4 October 2023 
Time: 9.00 am 
Venue: Council Antechamber, Level 2, Town Hall Extension 
 
Everyone is welcome to attend this committee meeting. 
 
 

Access to the Council Antechamber 
 

Public access to the Council Antechamber is on Level 2 of the Town Hall Extension, 
using the lift or stairs in the lobby of the Mount Street entrance to the Extension. 
There is no public access from the Lloyd Street entrances of the Extension. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership of the Constitutional and Nomination 
Committee 
Councillors - Karney (Chair), Craig, Curley, Flanagan, Green, Leech, Midgley, 
Rahman, Reeves and Richards 
 

Public Document Pack



Constitutional and Nomination Committee 
 

 

Agenda 
  
1.   Urgent Business 

To consider any items which the Chair has agreed to have 
submitted as urgent. 
 

 

 
2.   Appeals 

To consider any appeals from the public against refusal to allow 
inspection of background documents and/or the inclusion of items 
in the confidential part of the agenda. 
 

 

 
3.   Interests 

To allow Members an opportunity to [a] declare any personal, 
prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they might have in 
any items which appear on this agenda; and [b] record any items 
from which they are precluded from voting as a result of Council 
Tax/Council rent arrears; [c] the existence and nature of party 
whipping arrangements in respect of any item to be considered at 
this meeting. Members with a personal interest should declare 
that at the start of the item under consideration. If Members also 
have a prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interest they must 
withdraw from the meeting during the consideration of the item. 
 

 

 
4.   Minutes 

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held 
on 12 July 2023 
 

5 - 10 

 
5.   Appointments and Changes to Council Committee 

Membership 
The report of the City Solicitor is enclosed. 
 

11 - 14 

 
6.   Review of Members' Allowances - GMCA Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 
The report of the City Solicitor is enclosed. 
 

15 - 62 

 
7.   Appointment of an additional Independent Person for 

consideration of complaints against Members   
The report of the City Solicitor is enclosed. 

63 - 68 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Constitutional and Nomination Committee 
 

 

Information about the Committee  
The Constitutional and Nomination Committee deals with the appointment of 
councillors to serve on committees and certain external organisations. 
 
The Committee also considers proposed changes to the Council Constitution and 
recommendations for the granting of civic honours to individuals and organisations. 
Business for consideration at a meeting is set out on the agenda sheet. 
 
Copies of the agenda are available beforehand from the reception area at the Main 
Entrance of the Town Hall in Albert Square and may be viewed on the Council’s 
website up to seven days prior to the date of the meeting (see web information 
below). Some additional copies are available at the meeting from the Committee 
Officer. 
 
It is the Council's policy to consult people as fully as possible before making 
decisions which affect them. Members of the public do not have a right to speak at 
meetings but may do so if invited by the Chair. If you have a special interest in an 
item on the agenda and want to speak, tell the Committee Officer, who will pass on 
your request to the Chair. 
 
Agenda, reports and minutes of all Council meetings can be found on the Council’s 
website www.manchester.gov.uk  
 
Joanne Roney OBE 
Chief Executive,  
3rd Floor, Town Hall Extension,  
Lloyd Street, 
Manchester, M60 2LA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Further Information 
For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact the Committee 
Officer:  
 Andrew Woods 
 Tel: 0161 234 3011 
 Email: andrew.woods@manchester.gov.uk 
 
This agenda was issued on Tuesday, 26 September 2023 by the Governance and 
Scrutiny Support Unit, Manchester City Council, Level 2, Town Hall Extension 
(Library Walk Elevation), Manchester M60 2LA. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Constitutional and Nomination Committee  12 July 2023 

Constitutional and Nomination Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 12 July 2023 
 
Present:  
Councillor  Curley – in the Chair 
Councillors Flanagan, Leech, Rahman and Reeves  
 
Apologies: Councillor Karney 
 
CN/23/14 Appointment of Chair  
 
Decision 
 
The Committee agreed to appoint Councillor Curley as Chair of the meeting 
 
CN/23/15 Minutes  
 
Decision  
  
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 17 May 2023 as a correct record. 
 
CN/23/16 Appointments and Changes to Council Committee Membership  
 
The Committee considered the report of the City Solicitor providing information about 
the Council’s current appointments to Council Committees. The Committee was 
invited to review the appointments and make recommendations to Council about the 
Council’s representatives for the 2022/23 Municipal Year. 
  
The following amendments were proposed:- 
  

Committee Member(s) to be added Member(s) to be removed 
Resources and 
Governance Scrutiny 
  

  Councillor Abdullatif 

Children and Young 
People Scrutiny 
  

Councillor Bano 
Councillor Muse 
Councillor Sharif Mahamed 

Councillor Cooley 

Economy and 
Regeneration 
  

Councillor Abdullatif 
Councillor Shilton Godwin 

Councillor Bano 
Councillor Sharif Mahamed 

Health 
  

Councillor Cooley   

Environment, Climate 
Change and 
Neighbourhoods 
  

  Councillor Doswell 

Communities and 
Equalities 

Councillor Doswell   

Page 5

Item 4



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Constitutional and Nomination Committee  12 July 2023 

  
Licensing  
  
  

  Councillor Abdullatif 
Councillor Davies 
Councillor Muse 
  

Licensing and Appeals 
  

  Councillor Abdullatif 
Councillor Davies 
Councillor Muse 
  

Audit  
  

  Councillor Wheeler 

GM Pension Fund 
Advisory Committee 

Councillor Sheikh Councillor Moran 

Agma Joint 
Development 
Committee 

Councillor White Councillor Rawlins 

  
The Committee was also requested to recommend to Council appointment of 
Councillors Bell and Chohan to the Council’s Adoption Panel. 
  
Decisions 
  
The Committee:- 
  
1.       Recommend Council approve the amendments to committee appointments as 

follows:- 
  

Committee Member(s) to be added Member(s) to be removed 
Resources and 
Governance Scrutiny 
  

  Councillor Abdullatif 

Children and Young 
People Scrutiny 
  

Councillor Bano 
Councillor Muse 
Councillor Sharif Mahamed 

Councillor Cooley 

Economy and 
Regeneration 
  

Councillor Abdullatif 
Councillor Shilton Godwin 

Councillor Bano 
Councillor Sharif Mahamed 

Health 
  

Councillor Cooley   

Environment, Climate 
Change and 
Neighbourhoods 
  

  Councillor Doswell 

Communities and 
Equalities 
  

Councillor Doswell   

Licensing  
  
  

  Councillor Abdullatif 
Councillor Davies 
Councillor Muse 

Page 6

Item 4



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Constitutional and Nomination Committee  12 July 2023 

  
Licensing and Appeals 
  

  Councillor Abdullatif 
Councillor Davies 
Councillor Muse 
  

Audit  
  

  Councillor Wheeler 

GM Pension Fund 
Advisory Committee 

Councillor Sheikh Councillor Moran 

Agma Joint 
Development 
Committee 

Councillor White Councillor Rawlins 

  
2.       Recommend that Council agree the appointment of Councillors Bell and 

Chohan to the Council’s Adoption Panel. 
 
CN/23/17 Elections Act 2022 and the 4 May 2023 local election - progress 

report on its impacts  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Executive which provided a full 
update on how the new duties of the Elections Act 2022 impacted on the 4 May 2023 
local election, with specific focus on voter registrations, polling station accessibility, 
voter ID requirements and the local GM / Manchester communications campaign to 
raise awareness of these changes. 
  
Key points within the report included: 
  
                Figures on the number of applications for a Voter Authority Certificate (VAC) 

received by the Council;  
                The number of enquiries received by the Contact Centre before and on Polling 

Day;  
                60, 742 electors voted in person at the election out of a total of 313,519 

eligible; 
                1,060 polling station electors were not initially issued with a ballot paper but 

later returned with accepted ID; 
                589 polling station electors applied for but were not issued with a ballot paper 

by close of poll; 
                The reasonable equipment provisions that were in place at polling stations;  
                The impact of the communications campaign; and  
                The changes expected from July 2023 as a result of the second tranche of 

legislation through the Act. 
 
The Committee noted the hard work of the staff involved with the local elections in 
May. The Committee also thanked those staff involved in the running of polling 
stations on the day of the election.  
  
Decisions 
  
The Committee note the report. 
 

Page 7

Item 4



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Constitutional and Nomination Committee  12 July 2023 

CN/23/18 Electoral Commission interim report on the impact of Voter ID on 
the May 2023 local election  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Executive which provided details on 
the Electoral Commission’s (EC) interim findings of the impact of Voter ID on the 
recent May 4 local election, which was held in Manchester and in 229 other Councils. 
  
Core findings included:- 
  
                An awareness of the need to bring photo ID to vote at a polling station was 

high; 
                An awareness and take-up of the Voter Authority Certificate was low 
                At least 0.25% of people who tried to vote at a polling station in May 2023  

were not able to because of the ID requirement; 
                Around 4% of all non-voters said they did not vote because of the voter ID 

requirement; 
                Levels of voter confidence and satisfaction were similar to in previous elections 
  
The EC provided one major recommendation in their interim report on the impact of 
photo ID on the May local election:- 
  
                that the UK Government and the wider electoral community should work to 

improve the collection of data at polling stations. 
  
In addition, the EC specifically recommended that the UK Government should ensure 
that Returning Officers were able to collect and report monitoring data on the impact 
of voter ID at future elections, and they also assert that work was also needed to 
improve the quality and reliability of data collected at polling stations in future. 
  
The final EC report was due to be published in September and it would also include 
its usual analysis of all other core aspects of the May local election.  The Electoral 
Services Unit was considering the interim report and would determine full actions 
following the publication of the final EC report on the elections. Officers would keep 
the Committee informed on the conclusions of the final report and actions that were 
required as a result of it. 
  
Decision 
  
The Committee notes the report. 
 
CN/23/19 Future activity of the Electoral Services Unit  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Executive which informed of plans 
for conducting a future compulsory review of polling districts and polling places within 
the city. The review needed to take account of new Parliamentary Boundary changes 
that would come into effect for the next UK Parliamentary General Election (UKPGE). 
 The report also informed the committee of plans to support the annual canvass for 
updating the electoral register and plans to promote and implement existing Tranche 
1 and new Tranche 2 duties of the Elections Act 2022. 
  

Page 8

Item 4



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Constitutional and Nomination Committee  12 July 2023 

The proposals for parliamentary constituency boundaries had now been finalised by 
the Boundary Commission for England and delivered to the Speaker of the House of 
Commons. The proposals recommended the following parliamentary constituencies 
which fell wholly or partly in the Manchester district: 
  
                Blackley and Middleton South (taking in the existing Manchester wards of 

Charlestown, Crumpsall, Harpurhey, Higher Blackley and Moston, as well as 
the Rochdale Council wards of East Middleton and South Middleton). 

                Gorton and Denton (taking in the existing Manchester wards of Burnage, 
Gorton & Abbey Hey, Levenshulme and Longsight, as well as the Tameside 
Council wards of Denton North East, Denton South and Denton West). 

                Manchester Central (taking in the existing Manchester wards of Ancoats & 
Beswick, Cheetham, Clayton & Openshaw, Deansgate, Miles Platting & 
Newton Heath and Piccadilly, as well as the Oldham Council wards of 
Failsworth East and Failsworth West). 

                Manchester Rusholme (taking in the existing Manchester wards of Ardwick, 
Fallowfield, Hulme, Moss Side, Rusholme and Whalley Range). 

                Manchester Withington (taking in the existing Manchester wards of Chorlton, 
Chorlton Park, Didsbury East, Didsbury West, Old Moat and Withington). 

                Wythenshawe and Sale East (taking in the existing Manchester wards of 
Baguley, Brooklands (Manchester), Northenden, Sharston and Woodhouse 
Park, as well as the Trafford Council wards of Brooklands (Trafford), Priory 
and Sale Moor.  

  
In order to ensure that both parliamentary and local elections (standalone or 
combined) could be delivered using the same scheme and also that any 
parliamentary by-election could be run on existing boundaries, there were a small 
number of polling districts (with accompanying polling places) where the boundaries 
could not be changed ahead of the UKPGE as these polling districts were currently 
‘cross-constituency’ (polling districts that fell within a different parliamentary 
constituency to the other polling districts within the same local authority ward).   
  
The Electoral Services Unit was planning to commence the Annual Canvass to 
encourage increased electoral registration at the end of July 2023 and would 
continue until the end of November in readiness for the new Electoral Register to be 
published on the 1 December 2023.  Elections Officers were engaging with Council 
staff and external stakeholders to publicise electoral registration across the city and 
to particular parts of the community 
  
It was reported that a second tranche of legislation arising out of the Elections Act 
would start to come into effect over the next 12 months, and this would impact on the 
Local and Combined Authority Mayoral Elections in May 2024, and the next UKPGE. 
The Council’s Elections Team were closely engaging with the GM Strategic Lead for 
Elections to be fully prepared for these changes as well as indirectly engaging with 
the Government. 
  
Decisions 
  
The Committee:- 
  

Page 9

Item 4



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Constitutional and Nomination Committee  12 July 2023 

1.        Note the need for, and issues with, a compulsory review of polling districts and 
polling places. 

  
2.        Note the changes to parliamentary boundaries that have been submitted by the 

Boundary Commission of England to the Speaker of the House of Commons 
and which will come into effect at the next UK Parliamentary General Election. 

  
3.        Note and support plans for the Annual Canvass of Electors, including ways the 

Electoral Services Unit, other sections of the Council and external 
stakeholders can encourage dissemination and engagement with a range of 
communities across the city of material and core messages to promote 
increased electoral registration. 

4.       Note the timeline for the next tranche of duties from the Elections Act 2022 and 
that officers will consider ways to promote these duties in a similar manner to 
the annual canvass. 

 
 
 

Page 10

Item 4



 

Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to:  Constitutional and Nomination Committee – 4 October 2023 
 
Subject: Appointments and Changes to Council Committee Membership  
 
Report of:  The City Solicitor 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
The Committee is invited to agree and make recommendations to Council on 
changes to the current Council committee memberships.  
 
Recommendations 
 
To recommend that Council agree the amendments to Council. 
 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 
Alignment to the Our Manchester Strategy Outcomes (if applicable) 
 
Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of how this report aligns to the OMS 
A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and 
distinctive economy that creates 
jobs and opportunities 

A highly skilled city: world class 
and home-grown talent sustaining 
the city’s economic success 

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, 
work 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to 
drive growth 

N/A 

 
Full details are in the body of the report, along with any implications for: 
 

• Equal Opportunities Policy 
• Risk Management 

Page 11

Item 5



 

• Legal Considerations 
 
Financial consequences - Revenue 
 
None 
 
Financial consequences - Capital 
 
None 
 
Contact Officer 
 
Andrew Woods 
Governance and Scrutiny Team Leader 
0161 234 3011 
andrew.woods@manchester.gov.uk 
 
 
Background Documents 
 
None 
 

Page 12

Item 5



 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 At its meeting on 17 May 2023, the Constitutional and Nomination Committee 

proposed a number of appointments to Council. 
 

1.2 Since these appointments, requests for changes to the membership of Council 
Committees have been made. 
 

2. Proposed amendments 
 
2.1 The table below details the proposed changes to Council Committees. 
 

Committee Member(s) to be added Member(s) to be 
removed 

 
Licensing Committee 
 

Councillor Ludford  

Licensing and 
Appeals Committee 

Councillor Ludford  

Planning and 
Highways Committee 

 Councillor Ludford 

 
2.2 To remove Councillor Collins as Lead Member Carers and to appoint 

Councillor Iqbal as Lead Member Carers. 
 
3. Recommendation 
 
3.1 The Committee is requested to recommend that Council agree the 

amendments to Council Committees as detailed in paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 
above. 

Page 13

Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to: Council – 4 October 2023 
 
Subject: Review of Members’ Allowances  
 
Report of: City Solicitor 
 
 
Summary 
 
To enable the Council to consider the report and recommendations of the Council’s 
Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) in relation to the remuneration of the 
members of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
That Council: 
 
1. Accept the recommendations of the Council’s Independent Remuneration 

Panel and agree payment of special responsibility allowances to the 
Manchester City Council Members appointed as Members, substitute 
Members, Chair and, where appointed, the vice-chair of the GMCA Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee as set out in the report, backdated to 1st April 2023; 

 
2. Agree the indexation of the special responsibility allowances as recommended 

by the Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel; 
 
3. Instruct the City Solicitor to amend the Council’s Members’ Allowance Scheme 

set out in Part 7 of the Council’s Constitution to give effect to the decision of 
Council. 

 
 
Wards Affected - All 
 
 
Financial Consequences – Revenue 
 
There are no financial implications for the Council arising as a result of the proposed 
changes to the Member Allowance Scheme. Allowances paid by the Council to its 
Members that are appointed to sit on the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will be reimbursed to the Council by the GMCA. 
 
Financial Consequences – Capital - None. 
 
 
 
 

Page 15

Item 6



 

Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  Fiona Ledden 
Position: City Solicitor 
E-mail: fiona.ledden@manchester.gov.uk 
  
Name: Peter Hassett 
Position: Senior Solicitor  
E-mail: peter.hassett@manchester.gov.uk 
  
Background documents (available for public inspection):   
 
The following document discloses important facts on which the report is based and 
has been relied upon in preparing the report. Copies of the background documents 
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting. The document is available 
on the Council’s website www.manchester.gov.uk 
 

• Report of the Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel 
• Statutory Guidance issued by the Secretary of State 

 
 

Page 16

Item 6



 

1. Background 
 
1.1 At its meeting held on 16 December 2022 the GMCA considered a report of its 

Independent Remuneration Panel in relation to special responsibility 
allowances (SRA’s) for Members appointed to the GMCA Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and recommended as follows: 
 
a) That the recommendations of the report of the GM IRP be noted and 

accepted; 
b) That it be noted that the levelling up bill is still proceeding through 

parliament and therefore the GMCA does not yet have legislative power 
to pay allowances directly to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee members; 

c) That it be recommended that the GM Districts consider paying such 
allowances to their appointees to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in the interim; 

d) That a request be made to the GMCA Treasurer to ensure that 
appropriate arrangements be put in place with GM Districts to enable 
the payment of the allowances, subject to reimbursement from the 
GMCA; 

e) That it be recommended that any Special Responsibility Allowances for 
Members and Chair of the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 
set as recommended in the report and be backdated to 24th June 2022 
when the new scrutiny arrangements were put in place. 

 
2. The Manchester City Council Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
2.1 The Manchester City Council Independent Remuneration Panel consists of the 

following persons: 
 
• Dr Declan Hall (Chair) - a former lecturer at the Institute of Local 

Government, the University of Birmingham, currently an independent 
consultant who specialises in Members Allowances and support; 

 
• Vicky Knight – Regional Manager, UNISON North West 

 
• Clive Memmott OBE - Chief Executive of Greater Manchester Chamber 

of Commerce. 
 

2.2 The Council’s IRP met on 27 June 2023 and interviewed a number of 
Members and Council staff. The IRP completed its review on 3 July 2023 and 
issued its report which is attached as Appendix 1. 
 

2.3 Before the Council amends the Members’ Allowances Scheme it must have 
regard to the report of the IRP and also the Statutory Guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State, a copy of which is attached at appendix 2. 

 
2.4 The Council is not obliged to follow the proposals of the IRP. 

 
 

Page 17

Item 6



 

3. Summary of the Panel’s Recommendations 
 
3.1 The IRP recommends that the Council sets out in its allowances scheme that 

it pays the following SRAs to the Members it appoints to the GMCA Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee (until the GMCA acquires to powers to pay the posts 
itself) as follows: 

 
• The full Members:   annual SRA of £3,228 

 
• The Substitute Members:  an annual standing SRA of £536 + 

a variable SRA of £134.52 for each 
meeting attended of the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee and related Task 
& Finish Groups 
 

• If a MCC Member is a Chair:  an annual SRA of £9,684 only 
 

• If a MCC Member is a Vice  
Chair (and GMCA appoints one): an annual SRA of £4,035 only 

 
3.2 The IRP further recommends, in accordance with Council policy, that the 

SRAs paid to MCC Members appointed to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are subject to the 1-SRA only rule. In that where a Member 
appointed to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee, who is already in 
receipt of another SRA, then they are only able to be paid 1-SRA only. 

 
3.3 The IRP also recommends that the SRAs paid to MCC Members appointed to 

the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee are uprated each year in 
accordance with the annual percentage pay increase given to Manchester City 
Council employees at SCP 43 (and rounded to the nearest £) as agreed for 
each year by the National Joint Council for Local Government Staff. This index 
should continue to the end of March 2025, if the SRAs are still applicable at 
MCC. 
 

3.4 The IRP recommended that the recommended SRAs for MCC Members 
appointed to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee including their 
indexation are implemented from 1st April 2023 or from any date before then 
as agreed by the Council.  

 
4. Recommendations: 
 
4.1 The recommendations appear at the front of this report. 

Page 18

Item 6



 

 

 
 

 

A Review 

 

Of 

 

Members’ Allowances 
 

 

For 

 

 

Manchester City Council 
    ________________________ 
 

         A Report 
 
         By the 
 
         Independent Remuneration Panel 

 
  

         Dr Declan Hall (Chair) 
           Vicky Knight 

Clive Memmott OBE 
 

 
 

July 2023 

Page 19

Item 6Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 1

Executive Summary: Recommendations 
 
The IRP recommends that: 
 
MCC Members appointed to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 
• The full Members:      annual SRA of £3,228 

• The Substitute Members:    an annual standing SRA of £536 + 
a variable SRA of £134.52 for each 

meeting attended of the Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee and related Task & 

Finish Groups 

• If a MCC Member is a Chair:   an annual SRA of £9,684 only 

• If a MCC Member is a Vice  
Chair (and GMCA appoints one): an annual SRA of £4,035 only 

 
Applying 1-SRA rule to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny SRAs 
The SRAs paid to MCC Members appointed to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is subject to the 1-SRA only rule.  

 
 

Indexation of Allowances 
The SRAs paid to MCC Members appointed the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are also uprated each year in accordance with the annual percentage 
pay increase given to Manchester City Council employees at SCP 43 (and rounded 
to the nearest £) as agreed for each year by the National Joint Council for Local 
Government Staff. This index should continue to the end of March 2025, if the SRAs 
are still applicable at MCC. 

 

Special Responsibility Allowances 
Any recommendations on other SRAs are to be deferred at the request of MCC for 
further consideration. 
 
 
Implementation of Recommendations 
The recommended SRAs for MCC Members appointed to the GMCA Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee including their indexation are implemented from 1st April 2023 or 
from any date before then as agreed by the Council.  
 
 

Page 20

Item 6Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 2

 

 
A Review of Members’ Allowances 

 

For 

 
Manchester City Council 

 
 

By the 
 

Independent Remuneration Panel 
 

 
July 2023 

  
 
 
Introduction: The Regulatory Context 
 
1. This report is a synopsis of the deliberations and recommendations made by 

the Independent Remuneration Panel (the IRP) for Manchester City Council 
to advise the Council on its Members’ Allowances scheme. The IRP was 
convened under The Local Authorities’ (Members’ Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003 (SI 1021) (“the 2003 Regulations”). These regulations, 
which arise out of the relevant provisions contained in the Local Government 
Act 2000, require all local authorities to establish and maintain an advisory 
Independent [Members] Remuneration Panel to review and provide advice on 
Members’ allowances on a periodic basis. All Councils are required to 
convene their IRP and seek its advice before they make any changes or 
amendments to their members’ allowances scheme. They must ‘pay regard’ 
to their IRPs recommendations before setting a new or amended Members’ 
Allowances Scheme (2003 Regulations paragraph 19) 

 
2. On this particular occasion, as the Council was primarily seeking to adopt 

some new SRAs, namely for Members appointed to the GMCA Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the IRP was reconvened under the 2003 Regulations 
(paragraph 19).  

 
 
The IRP 
 
3. Manchester City Council reconvened its Independent Remuneration Panel, 

constituted of the following members: 
 

• Dr Declan Hall (Chair):  a former lecturer at the Institute of Local   
        Government, the University of Birmingham,  
        currently an independent consultant who   
        specialises in Members Allowances and   
        support 
 

Page 21

Item 6Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 3

• Clive Memmot (OBE):1 Chief Executive of Greater Manchester 
  Chamber of Commerce 

 

• Vicky Knight:     Regional Manager UNISON North West 
 
4. The IRP was supported by: 
 

� Fiona Ledden:    City Solicitor 
 
� Peter Hassett:    Senior Lawyer, who took the organisational  

Lead in facilitating the work of the IRP 
 

 
Terms of Reference 
 

5. In accordance with the 2003 Regulations (21.1) and 2006 Statutory Guidance 
on Regulation for Local Authority Allowances (61) the IRP was asked to 
produce a report to make recommendations on the following: 

 
I. The payment of SRAs to those Manchester City Council (MCC) 

Members appointed as members of the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA), including as members, substitute 
members or the Chair to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the amount of such allowances 
 

II. The responsibilities or duties which should lead to the payment of a 
Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) and as to the amount of 
such an allowance 
 

III. As to whether annual adjustments of allowance levels may be made 
by reference to an index, and, if so, which index should apply, 
subject to a maximum of four years, before its application is 
reviewed 
 

IV. The implementation date for the new Scheme of Members’ 
Allowances and as to whether, in the event that the scheme is 
amended, any such amendments should be backdated to the 
beginning of the financial year 

 

In undertaking the review, the IRP is expected to:  

A. To take into account allowances paid in comparable councils, namely 
the other Greater Manchester Metropolitan Councils 

B. To take into account the recommendations of the GMCA IRP report 
dated November 2022, on SRAs payable to members appointed to the 
GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

C. To take into account the views of Members 
D. Any other consideration that the Council obliges the IRP to take into 

account 
 

 
1 Clive Memmott took part in the view virtually 

Page 22

Item 6Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 4

 

Process and Methodology 
 
6. The IRP met in person at Manchester Town Hall Extension on 27th June 

2023. These meetings were in private session to enable the IRP to meet with 
Members and receive factual briefings from relevant Officers and conduct 
deliberations in confidence.  
 

7. In accordance with the terms of reference, in arriving at its recommendations, 
the IRP also reviewed a wide range of written data and evidence, which 
included but was not limited to Council and committee meetings schedules 
and terms of reference, relevant reports and information on the Council’s 
governance arrangements, the 2006 Statutory Guidance on Members’ 
Allowances, etc. 
 

8. For full details of the written evidence received and reviewed by the IRP see:  
 

• Appendix 1:  Details of Members interviewed and Officers who 
provided a factual briefing to the IRP 
 

• Appendix 2: for a list of the full range of evidence considered     
by the IRP 

 

• Appendix 3: Benchmarking data, namely the Basic and  
Special Responsibility Allowances (2022/23) paid 
across all 10 Greater Manchester Metropolitan 
Councils 

 
 

Introductory Observation – Not time to make revisions to the wider scheme  

 
9. While the IRP did identify some anomalies in the current scheme, aside from 

the SRAs for members appointed to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, the IRP considered, based on the representation received it is 
reasonable in the circumstances to defer any recommendations regarding 
other SRAs. 

 
10. The IRP does feel that some of the main allowances payable are not 

sustainable in the longer term. To encourage a wide range of candidates to 
run for and remain on Council the allowances will need addressing in the 
future. 

 
 
The IRPs Recommendations – Recommended SRAs for MCC Members 
appointed to the GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 

24. The trigger for this review was a report received by the Council from the GMCA 
(dated 16 December 2022) that also contained a report (November 2022) from 
the GMCA IRP setting out its recommendations regarding the payment of SRAs 
of GM council Members appointed to the GMCA Overview & Scrutiny 

Page 23

Item 6Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 5

Committee. All GM councils are required to appoint Members to the GMCA 
Overview & Scrutiny Committees and it is a statutory committee. 
 

25. The GMCA IRP reviewed these SRAs in anticipation of the enacting of the 
Levelling Up Bill which will give the GMCA the authority to remunerate GM 
council Members appointed to its Overview & Scrutiny Committee. However, 
the Levelling Up Bill is still proceeding through Parliament and therefore the 
GMCA does not yet have the legislative power to pay an SRA directly to the 
GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee Members. As an interim arrangement, 
the GMCA has asked all GM councils to adopt the recommendations of the 
GMCA IRP regarding GM council Members appointed to its Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee. Moreover, there will be no financial impact for Manchester 
City Council, as the payment of these SRAs will be reimbursed by the GMCA.  
 

26. The MCC IRP received no evidence to deviate from the recommendations of 
the GMCA IRP regarding the payment of SRAs for MCC Members appointed to 
the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee. These SRAs were supported in 
the representation received and it is noted that where considered all other GM 
Council have adopted the same recommendations. 
 

27. As such, the IRP recommends that the Council sets out in its allowances 
scheme that it pays the following SRAs to the Members it appoints to the 
GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee (until the GMCA acquires to powers to 
pay the posts itself) as follows: 

 
• The full Members:      annual SRA of £3,228 

• The Substitute Members:    an annual standing SRA of £536 + 
a variable SRA of £134.52 for each 

meeting attended of the Overview 

& Scrutiny Committee and related 

Task & Finish Groups 

• If a MCC Member is a Chair:   an annual SRA of £9,684 only 

• If a MCC Member is a Vice  
Chair (and GMCA appoints one):  an annual SRA of £4,035 only 

 
11. The IRP further recommends, in accordance with Council policy, that the 

SRAs paid to MCC Members appointed to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are subject to the 1-SRA only rule. In that where a Member 
appointed to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee who is already in 
receipt of another SRA then they are only able to be paid 1-SRA only. 
 
 

Indexation of Allowances 
  
12. The 2003 Regulations permit allowances to be indexed on an annual basis 

but for no longer than a period of 4 years before a Council is required to 
reconvene and seek a view from their IRP before it can be renewed for 
another four years. Most Councils now index their allowances, it helps to 
prevent them losing value over time. Currently, MCC indexes the Basic 
Allowance, SRAs, Co-optees’ Allowances and payments to Members of the 

Page 24

Item 6Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 6

Independent Education Appeals Panels to the annual percentage increase (at 
SCP 43) given to Manchester City Council employees (and rounded to the 
nearest £) as agreed for each year by the National Joint Council (NJC) for 
Local Government, known as the NJC index. Authority for this indexation runs 
until the end of March 2025, implemented from the 1st of April 2021, a period 
of four years, the maximum period allowed before the Council is required to 
seek further advice on the issue from the IRP. 
 

13. In the representation received there was overall support to continue this 
indexing for the SRAs paid to MCC Members appointed to the GMCA 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. It is also noted that all other GM Councils 
apply the NJC index to their relevant allowances. 
 

14. Thus the IRP recommends that the SRAs paid to MCC Members appointed to 
the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee are also uprated each year in 
accordance with the annual percentage pay increase given to Manchester 
City Council employees at SCP 43 (and rounded to the nearest £) as agreed 
for each year by the National Joint Council for Local Government Staff. This 
index should continue to the end of March 2025, if the SRAs are still 
applicable at MCC. 
 

Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
15. While as previously indicated, the IRP did consider that there was a case to 

revisit some of the current SRAs payable any recommendations on other 
SRAs have been deferred at the request of MCC for further consideration. 
 
 

Implementation of Recommendations 
 
16. It is recommended that the recommended SRAs for MCC Members appointed 

to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee including their indexation are 
implemented from 1st April 2023 or from any date before then as agreed by 
the Council.  

 

Page 25

Item 6Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 7

Appendix One: Members interviewed by IRP and Officers who provided a factual 
briefing to the IRP 

 
Members interviewed by the IRP 
 
Cllr B. Craig Leader of the Council and Labour Group, Executive Lead for 

Governance & Devolution, External Relationships and Strategic 
Policy Coordination and GMCA Portfolio Holder for Economy, 
Business & Inclusive Growth  

 
Cllr A. Johnson   Leader of Green Opposition Group 
 
Cllr P. Karney   Labour Group Secretary 
 
Cllr J. Leech    Leader of Liberal Democrat Opposition Group 
 
Cllr J. Midgley Deputy Leader and Executive Lead for Reducing Poverty & 

tackling inequalities, Homeless, Voluntary & Community Sector, 
Domestic Violence & Abuse. Advice Services, Refugees & 
Asylum Seekers and Member Development 

 
Cllr L. Rahman Deputy Leader (statutory) and Executive Lead for Crime & 

Safety, Our Manchester Strategy Performance, Civil 
contingencies & Emergency Planning, Corporate & Property & 
Estates, Cultural Strategy, Future Council Programme Oversight, 
Capital Project and Lord Mayor’s Office 

 
 
Officer who provided a factual briefing to the IRP 
 
Joanne Roney   Chief Executive 
 
Fiona Ledden   City Solicitor & Monitoring Officer

Page 26

Item 6Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 8

Appendix Two: Papers and other Written Material Received by the IRP 
 

1.  IRP Terms of Reference  
 

2.  Review of Members Allowances for MCC, Report  of the IRP, February 2022 
 

3.  Report to Council on  Report  of the IRP, February 2022, 18th May 2022 
 

4.  Extract minutes of Council meeting 18th May 2022 
 
5.  Manchester City Council Members' Allowances Scheme 2022/23 including full 

schedule of SRAs payable, travel and subsistence rates and approved duties, 
including the support provided to Members 

  
6.  Schedule of payments, support and other allowances provided to Members 

appointed to the MCC Independent Education Appeals Panels 
 
7.  Manchester City Council annual statutory publication of Members’ allowances 

and expenses received by each Member, 2021/22 
 

8.  Manchester City Council Constitution, Articles 6-7, The Council, Council, Chair, 
Scrutiny Committees, The Executive, Regulatory & other Committees and 
Standards Committee 

 
9.  Manchester City Council Constitution, Part 3, Section C, Terms of Reference for 

Committees 
 

10.  Manchester City Council and committees, meetings timetable 2022/23 
 

11.  Membership, including Chair and Deputy Chair of Manchester City Council 
Committees and Executive 
 

12.  Executive Member roles, 2022/23 
 

13.  Portfolio of MCC Council Leader on the GMCA 
 

14.   National Employers for Local Government Services, Local Government Pay 
Offer, 27rd February 2023 

 
15.  The Greater Manchester Combined Authority Order 2011, Schedule 1, 

SI2011/908 
 
16.  Benchmarking (BM1-3) - summary of allowances paid across the GM Councils 

2022/23 or the latest data available 
 

17.  Hard copies of allowances schemes from all GM Councils 
 

18.  New Council Constitutions: (Statutory) Guidance on Regulation for Local 
Authority Allowances, May 2006 (extract) 
 

19.  The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, SI  
2003/1021 

Page 27

Item 6Appendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 9

 
20.  GMCA IRP Report, Review of SRAs for Members appointed to GMCA Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee, November 2022 
 

 

Page 28

Item 6Appendix 1,



 

 

10 
 

Appendix Three: Benchmarking Data Summary 

BM1 Manchester City Council BM Group - Other GM Mets: BA + Exec + Scrutiny SRAs (22/23) 

Comparator 

Council 

Basic 

Allowance 

Leader or 

Elected Mayor 

Leader or 

Mayor 

Total 

Deputy 

Leader 

Executive 

Cabinet 

Members 

Assistant 

or Deputy 

Execs 

Chairs or 

Lead 

Scrutiny 

V/Chairs 

Scrutiny 

Chairs 

Scrutiny 

Subs/WGs 

Bolton £11,848 £31,989 £43,837 £19,104 £7,265   £5,189     

Bury* £11,227 £39,681 £50,908 £20,209 £15,157 £2,273 £8,420     

Oldham* £10,514 £37,848 £48,362 £22,079 £18,272 £7,885 £9,462     

Rochdale* £11,172 £39,395 £50,567 £16,758 £15,082 £3,016 £8,379     

Salford** £12,012 £59,817 £71,829 £24,930 £15,932 £11,626 £9,432 £3,141   

Stockport £10,717 £32,151 £42,868 £17,683 £16,075   £6,430   £1,286 

Tameside £14,712 £39,588 £54,300 £25,812 £22,081 £9,176 £10,526 £3,509 £2,601 

Trafford* £10,076 £41,473 £51,549 £20,303 £15,618 £7,809 £8,590 £2,577   

Wigan* £13,920 £52,737 £66,657 £27,147 £18,818 £6,210 £8,364     

Manchester £18,841 £47,016 £65,857 £19,775 £19,775 £7,913 £11,877     

Mean £12,504 £42,170 £54,673 £21,380 £16,408 £6,989 £8,667 £3,076   

Median £11,538 £39,635 £51,229 £20,256 £16,004 £7,847 £8,505 £3,141   

Highest £18,841 £59,817 £71,829 £27,147 £22,081 £11,626 £11,877 £3,509   

Lowest £10,076 £31,989 £42,868 £16,758 £7,265 £2,273 £5,189 £2,577   

Mean Ratios   
 Mean Leaders SRA = 

3.73 X Mean BA 
  51% 39% 43% 21% 35%   

MCC Ratios   2.5 X MCC BA   42% 42% 40% 25% NA   

* Leaders SRAs include where 2nd GMCA Leaders additional SRA is also payable ** Salford has 2 Deputy Mayors  

 

P
age 29

Item
 6

A
ppendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 11 

 

BM2 Manchester City Council BM Group Other GM Mets : Regulatory SRAs (22/23) 

Comparator 

Council 

Chair of 

Planning 

V/Chair 

Planning 

Chair of 

Licensing 

V/Chair 

Licensing 

Chairs 

Licensing 

Panels/Subs 

Mbrs 

Licensing 

Chair Audit 

&/or 

Governance 

V/Chair 

Audit 

Chair 

Standards 

Chair 

Employment 

Bolton £8,321 £2,863 £7,875 £2,565             

Bury £8,420   £8,420     
£106 p/mtng > 4 

hours/£53 < 4 

hours 
£8,420       

Oldham £9,462   £9,462       £2,325   £734   

Rochdale £11,172   
Inc in 

Planning 
      £8,379     £8,379 

Salford £9,432 £3,141 £9,432 £3,141     £9,432 £3,141     

Stockport £8,038   £4,823   £3,858   £3,858       

Tameside £10,526 £3,509 £6,809 £2,536 £6,809   £10,526 £3,509 £6,809   

Trafford £10,933 £3,280 £10,933 £3,280     £8,590 £4,236 £2,343 £7,809 

Wigan £12,543 £3,265 £15,491 £3,873     £8,364       

Manchester £11,877 £3,961 £11,877 £3,961   £596         

Mean £10,072 £3,337 £9,458 £3,226     £7,487 £3,629 £3,295   

Median £9,994 £3,273 £9,432 £3,211     £8,400 £3,509 £2,343   

Highest £12,543 £3,961 £15,491 £3,961     £10,526 £4,236 £6,809   

Lowest £8,038 £2,863 £4,823 £2,536     £2,325 £3,141 £734   

Mean Ratios 

Leaders' or 

Chairs' SRA 

24% 33% 22% 34%     18% 48% 8%   

MCC Ratios 25% 33% 25% 33%             

 

 

P
age 30

Item
 6

A
ppendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 12 

 

BM3 Manchester City Council BM Group - Other GM Mets: Opposition, Group & Other SRAs (22/23) 

Comparator 

Council 

Main 

Opposition 

Leader 

Main 

Opposition 

Deputy 

Leader 

Other 

Opposition 

Group 

Leaders 

Other 

Opposition 

Group Deputy 

Leaders 

Area 

Chairs 
Other/Political/Group  SRAs 

Bolton £10,683 £4,273 £2,671 £1,870   
Chair Bolton Cares £8,199, Bolton at Home £5,500, HM Pension Fund Member 
£1,460 

Bury £11,115 £4,446 £5,558 £1,946   
Mbrs appointed to GMCA Waste Committee £1,500, Mbrs appointed to GMTC 
£3,000, Licensing Mbrs only paid if attend > 6 licensing hearings 

Oldham £15,771 £6,309 £4,568   £6,624 
Shadow Execs £3,154,Deputy District Leads £1,302, "Additional SRA" £1,577, 
GMTC Mbrs £4,288, GM O&S Mbr £3,228, GM O&S Substitutes £536 + £135 
p/mtng 

Rochdale £11,731   £1,676   £8,379 
Member Adoption + Fostering Panels £1,676, Mbrs GMTC + GMCA Waste 
Committee £4,182 

Salford £9,432   £9,432     
Opposition Group Leaders SRA only payable with 3 Mbrs, Council Chair £11,04, 
Mbrs GMTC £5,629 

Stockport £9,645   
£1,101 + £330 

p/Mbr 
  £4,823 

  

Tameside £12,381   £2,536   £10,526 

Chair Council Business £12,381, Dep Chairs Licensing Subs £2,536, Dep Area 
Chairs £3,509, Dep Chair Standards £2,536, Member Standards £1,665 + if 
attend .5 Standards, Mbr GM Waste Disposal £2,100 + GMTC £3,825, Chair + 
Dep Chair + Mbr GM Pension Fund £17,525/£8,762/£1,486 

Trafford £10,933 £3,280 £3,142     Shadow Execs £2,187, Dep Chair Employment £2,343 

Wigan £5,641 
£50 

p/Member if 

> 15 Members 
£5,641       

Manchester £11,877 £4,752 £4,752     
Opposition Lead Mbr Finance £1,188, City Centre Spokesperson + Member on 
Fostering Panel £7,913, Member on Adoption Panel £6,372. Members of 
Licensing only paid if attend >12 meetings 

Mean £10,921 £4,612 £4,442   £7,588   

Median £11,024 £4,446 £4,568   £7,502   

Highest £15,771 £6,309 £9,432   £10,526   

Lowest £5,641 £3,280 £1,676   £4,823   

Mean Ratios to 

Leaders' SRA 
26% 42% 11%   18%   

MCC Ratios 25% 40% 10%       

P
age 31

Item
 6

A
ppendix 1,



Manchester City Council Allowances Review 2023                                     Independent Remuneration Panel 

 

 13 

 

P
age 32

Item
 6

A
ppendix 1,



����������	
�����	�������	�������	
���	����������	�������
�������������������	
����	��	�����	��
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�����
���	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �!"#$�%&"&'&()*�+)(,#%#($%---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------.�/($%(0#1"&#($�(2�345'0"&#($%---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------6�78"&�"00(9"$:4%�:"$�;4�+"#1<-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------6�7#&88(01#$5�=00(9"$:4%---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------->�?":@1"&#$5�(2�=00(9"$:4%-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------A�=$$'"0�=1B'%&C4$&%�(2�=00(9"$:4�04,40%--------------------------------------------------------------------------------A�D����	��E�	��	����F�	������	�E�	���������������������������������������������������������������������������G�H84�9()@�(2�&84�+"$40------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------IJ�!"@#$5�"�%:84C4�(2�"00(9"$:4%--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------IK�L';0#:#&*---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------I.�H)"$%#&#($"0�L)(,#%#($%----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------IM�=00(9"$:4%�2()�/8"#)�"$1�N#:4�/8"#)�(2�L)#$:#+"0�/('$:#0%-------------------------------------------------IM�=00(9"$:4%�2()�!4C;4)%�(2�L")#%8�/('$:#0%-------------------------------------------------------------------------IM�D�O��	�������	����	���	
�������F�	�������
��������	F�	�����	
�����P��	������
�Q��	������P�������	
���	���OE�	���������������������������������������������������������������������������R�H"S"&#($�(2�!4C;4)%T�=00(9"$:4%�"$1�US+4$%4%------------------------------------------------------------------IA�!4C;4)%T�=00(9"$:4%�98#:8�+)(,#14�34C'$4)"&#($------------------------------------------------------------JV�W&84)�+(#$&%�:($:4)$#$5�"�C4C;4)T%�&"S�"22"#)%---------------------------------------------------------------------J.�X�FY��P�������	
���	�������	����	���	
��
�	���Y����	�Z���[���������������������\]�$̂&)(1':&#($----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------J_�2̂�*('�8",4�C()4�&8"$�($4�B(;-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------J_�4̀$4)"0�4S+4$%4%-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------J_�!(&()#$5�4S+4$%4%-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------J>�?4$42#&%----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------J>�=00(9"$:4%�"$1�4S+4$%4%�+"#1�&(�:#,#:�1#5$#&")#4%----------------------------------------------------------------J>�/0(&8#$5----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------J>�a($"&#($%-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------JA�U$&4)&"#$C4$&-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------JA�
Page 33

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

����������
Page 34

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

���������������� �!"��#"$�%�&� '(�%��)�'�&�'��)*�+� ,(�(",-"�).'/0�(� ,(� .�' "�1&'-,� "����%��)�('-,�"-�2"3&(,�'��)�4���+� ,(�5&�.��'�6�5((�$,� ")�7�
��899:�;��	����������<�=����>�	?��@	�	�����������A;��	����������<�=����>�	?��@	�	�����B
����C�����D����������>
�����������EFGB�H<I�J�
�=�����989�KLMM�:999�F�N��	������O��=?O��PO�Q�RSTUVWXSYVZ[U\]̂_S̀aabSTVZ[U\]̂_S\XS_̂cS_[ZV]UdẐ\YdeSdUUdX]cfcX_SUcg_gSW\_̂S_̂cSTUVWXhSî\gSZjke\Yd_\VXlScmYejn\X]SeV]VglSfd[SkcSUcZUVnjYcnSoUccSVoSŶdU]cS\XSdX[SoVUfd_SVUSfcn\jfSoVUSUcgcdUŶlSZU\pd_cSg_jn[SVUSoVUS\X_cUXdeSY\UYjed_\VXSW\_̂\XSdXSVU]dX\gd_\VXhSî\gS\gSgjkqcY_S_VS\_Skc\X]SUcZUVnjYcnSdYYjUd_ce[SdXnSXV_SjgcnS\XSdSf\gecdn\X]SYVX_cm_hSîcSfd_cU\deSfjg_SkcSdYrXVWecn]cnSdgSTUVWXSYVZ[U\]̂_SdXnS_̂cS_\_ecSVoS_̂cSZjke\Yd_\VXSgZcY\o\cnhSsVUSdX[SV_̂cUSjgcSVoS_̂\gSfd_cU\delSZecdgcSWU\_cS_VStuvwlSîcSTVZ[U\]̂_SxX\_lSv_STecfcX_gStVjgclS̀yz{STVec]d_clS|VUW\ŶS|}bSz~�Ssdm�Saz{abS�̀baaaSVUScyfd\e�S��=��	�����?��O��PO�QOSS�ZZe\Yd_\VXgSoVUSUcZUVnjY_\VXSĝVjenSkcSfdncS\XSWU\_\X]S_VSîcSTVZ[U\]̂_SxX\_lStcUSudqcg_[�gSv_d_\VXcU[Swoo\YclSv_STecfcX_gStVjgclS̀yz{STVec]d_clS|VUW\ŶS|}bSz~�hS����������=	��������	��=�N
	���	��������P�	
�N
�����?�;��	����������<�=����>�	?��@	�	�����>�N
	���	����>;�D���8:��F�����N��F�������Q��	����E8:�K�D�J�
�9�K9�G88��8:������9�K9�G88��8:K�J���=�����9�K9�G89K�M9H�B�?�	
���=?�������O=����O����>�	�����	��������D�	��	�����?����	�
������	�	���KH��=���������?�������������8H��B���=�
=O�7�
��899:�>���������������������A
Page 35

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

��������������� !"�#���$�	����	������	��	���������%��
	���������������	
�&�%��
	����	���	��������	
�&��������'������������	
�&����������	
��������(�
������)�	

�&��	���������	�	��������	������'������*'	���	�������*������������+	���)��,	��������-./0&�1�	���������	�	�������'
	�����'��2����(3������������
���,���*��������-.45&������������+	�������%*��������2
���	���������	��&�����6������������	��&�����������,��	���'��������������������������	���������
�'�����������������	���
�2��7�������	�	��8�$�����	�������
����������	��9����������������	��	���������������,���*���8�2������9���.-����-:5��99
�����9��	��������	
��	��%��
���8�$�����	���������
���	���;<����9��*��������

�����������*�*'�������������������	�	�����������������
���,���*��������=���	�������-.4.�������������
���,���*��������>:::�;<����9��*��������

��������������?*�*'�������,	��������**	���������������	�	���;<��������'
	��*��������*�	������������	���9���������*������	���9���
�8�$�	����	�����������	�������*'	���	�����������	9�	����������*�	������������9��,	�	���&�������������	������@����������	���-4@5�A������������
���,���*��������=���	�������-.4.&�B����-.4.����BA������	���
���
�������	�	���*������,����������������?������������	�����8�$���������������	�����������	���
���
�������	�	���*������,���������	��9���������	��*��������C���	�����B�	�7B�	������
���������*���	������	��	���	���	�����*����������	9�	,����C���������?������������	�����8�$�	����	��������9��������������	������DEFGHIJKLMNGHIKOPMPJPMIKOGQGRJMSTKLEGIKGUEVWEXOYGZNNIFTKLEOG[IXG\ILTNGZJP]IXMPMEOGMKĜK_NTKSG	������'��̀%$��	���9�	
�>::-8�ab#��c�b�!���d�e��f#c#��c�-8�)���	���-4��������-.4.����&�����*������'������	���..������������
���,���*��������>:::�@B����>:::����BA&�*�7���9��,	�	���	����
��	������'��	�&��9��	�
����9���	'	
	���������	
������������9�������g�������g��

������������*�*'�������
���
�������	�	��8�$���)������������)���������*�7������
��	������������	������	�����h�	�	���
���
�������	�	������*�7��������*������

���������������	��*�*'���������������'
	�������*�	���	����9���
����*�7������**�����	����������������	
��'������������*�8�>8�)���	���-::��������>:::������

��������)������������)��������*�7��9��,	�	���	����
��	���������,�
�������'�	��������

�����������*�*'�������
���
�������	�	�����������

��������������������	

������������*�*'��������������	
g����**	����������'?��**	����8�$�	��	��
����������*���*���������9��
����9��,	�	�����������	����-0i����-04������������
���,���*��������-.0>8�i8�$�������
�������	�	���@j�*'���g��

�������A@%��
���A�����
��	����>::i�@B��������
��	���BA���,��'����*����������������9��,	�	���8�$�������,��������
��'�����*��������������������������'����	���
���
�������	�	���*������*9
���	�����������
��	���8�$�	����	���������
���	�����������
��	�����������*�����8�$�������
��	����9��,	��������	��	�����������
���
�������	���������	���	�������*�����������*���������'��9�	�����������������*�8������	
��������h�	�����������'
	�������*�	���	�����	���9���������*������	���9���
���	����	

�'����
����,�����������	�������9��,	�	�������
���
�������	����	�����,	������	�������*�&k�����*���������'��9�	����������9���	���'	
	�������

����������������
�,���8�����
�������	�	���*������,��������������	����,	��8�/8�$����99�����&����������&�	������������h����	���������������*������9���'
�����*�*'��������*�����������
���
������*	���	��8�(����	�����&������	
��������7����

���������������	��9���	��
����	���*�������&�	��
��	�������9���	������*�������	�����������	���	��&�����'���	����
����������'
��������	���
��������8�$�	����������'	
	���	������9�����������������������	
�'�	�����,	�������	��������

������������*��'����
���
�9���
�������*�*'����������h�	�������'��	���9������8�
Page 36

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

�����������������
�������	�	��������	��
����	�����	�������������

�������������	���

�������� ����
������

������������������	��
���� ��!	�	����������� ����������� ��	�
���� ���	�	
	����

���������������� �������"�������"��

��������#��!	������������	���$%%��������&%%%��������������
�������	�	���'(������"��

�������)�'*��
���)�����
��	����&%%+��

�������	��
��	�����������!�
���������	���������������,� ����"��

��������	��	������

����������������-������

�������������
����	�����	�������.�������������
��	�����������������//������������
���!������������&%%%��������	�	���������0�� ��!	�	���	�����	�������������������
	�	�	
	������������������ ���	������������������
���!��������1���	���2�������34564789:;845�4<�=>?@7:;8456�A��-���&%%+�����
��	���������
��BC�� 
	��������� ��!	���� ��!	�	���������

��������������������	����	��������

��	�������
��	�������	�������������!�0���DC��������
�������	�	���'(������"��

�������)�����
��	����$//$����������������DC��������
�������	�	���'(������"��

�������)�'*��
���)�����
��	����&%%$��-���&%%+�����
��	����	�����	�	�����0��������

��	�����������DC��	������!�
���������	��������

���������	��	�������!���

��������������������������������E������������������	�����������
���
� ���
����������������E�������
	�	���	� ������������2������������2�����DC	�������������,� ����"��

�������DC�

�������������� ������ ��	�
���� ���	�	
	����

����������	���������������E����������������������	����������	��� ����������������	��� ���
�DC�

�������������!��	������������������������������	���������
����������������	�����	���������	�	���������0�����	������������������

��������DC�

����������	� ���
�������	�	��������E�	����������� �����	���������������	�	��������� ������������� ������!�
���������	��������

��������DC�

���������	�	������������ ������������������������!���������� ��������� ���	�

����� ��������������	�����	�������������0�� ��!	�	������������� �����������

�������FDC�

���������	�	���������0������

������������������	��	�����������	����	�
������	����	������������ �	������������0�������
���E������������������������	���G�����E����������������������	�����������	��� ������� ���
�DC��0�� ��!	�	�������	��� ����������������	��� ���
�������0���	��	������	�	���������	��������	

������������
	�	�
������ ���	����DC�

��� ��	��������	
����� ����� ��	������	���

��������������!�
���������	��������

�������������������DC����
�� ��	������������	��� ���
�������0�������������	��������

�������� �	����� ��	��������	
��DC����!	�������� �	������� ��	��������	

��������
�	�	����	����	�
�
�����

�������DC��H�	�������������������	�	��������!���������������������������	����������� ���
�����������������	�	�����	�����0�����	���	���������������������������	����IJ:;�:774K:5L>6�L:5�M>�N:89O�P��Q����������������

����������	����������������� ����
����������������
���
�������	�	������������

����
Page 37

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

���������������	���

�������������	�
��������	�	
	����

������������������������������

������������ �

	�����������	��������

������!�"!�#���������$���������

�������%�����������
�������$��������������	�����%�%����������	��	��
������	
���������$�
������%�%�����������������	�������	����������%	�������������	��	��
������	
!�&'()*+',,-.'/*0+1!�2����
���
�������	���%����%�3����� 	�	���	��	�������%������

�����������������	�4��
���������

������������
������

�%�%������������������	��!�#����

�������%�������������%�����������%�%���!�#����

�������%��������	��	����
�%����%4����	��	����
%���������������������!�56!�7��	���

�������	��	�����������������	��������	%����%%	�%��������

������	

���4�	��
��	��������	�� 	���
����

��������	���	%�����%���	�����	������	��������������	���������������������������
	�	��
�������%���	���!�8��	���
���	������������� ���	��	�����
�����������������������������	����%��!�9:0*)',+;0(:-/()<),)=>+',,-.'/*0+55!�2����
���
�������	���%����
���%�3����� 	�	���	��	�������%�������������%�����������	�
��������	�	
	����

�����������������������	

���������� ���	��	�	������������	�	
	�	��!�?���	�
��������	�	
	����

�������%�����������
���������	�����	�����

��	��	��������

��	����������	��@�����	������
����������������
�������������
	�	��
���������%�%�����	����������A����	 �4����������������	���	��������	����A����	 ���������%�����������	�	������%���	�����������%%	����4����$��%%	����4����B�	�����%%	����������������	�������������	������%���	����������������������%�%�����	���������%%	�����������$��%%	�������	���%������	����A����	���
����C��������������A����	���

��
�������	���������	�����������3�����������������
	�	��
��������������%%	�����������$��%%	�������%�%�����	�������������	��������
������
��������
����
	����	���
	����	������������

	����������	 	������������������	 	�	���	����
��	�����������	���������������������	����������	������������C�	����C��
��������������������������%�%�����������������������	 	�	���
	�������� �!�5D!�������%��%�����
�������	��������%����������

���������������	�����������������������	�	
	��!�5E!�F�����������
	�	��
�������	��	��������
4��������������������	����������	���������������	�
��������	�	
	����

�������4�����������	���%����%�3����� 	�	��������������%�������������	�
��������	�	
	����

�������������
���������%�%���������%	���	��������!�5G!�#��������	��	��������������� ���%�����	

��
��������
�������������	�
��������	�	
	����

����������������������	

��������������%����	�����
������	���������������
��������	

���������������������������	
�!�H0:0/I'/=(J+*';0;(J+',,-.'/*0+5K!�������%������

��������%����
���	��
�����������%������������������������������

���������������������	

��������	������A����	�����������������������	
���������������������������	
����������3	�������	��
������	��!�#��������	�����������	�	���	����������
��	�����������������

��������%���	�����������A����	 ��
Page 38

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

������������������	������������	������������������	�����������	����������������	�����������	������������	���������� !����	������������������	�����������	����������������� ���������	�������������	�����"���##�	��������������	���	���$������������	������������	���������� !����	���������� ���������	�������������	�����"���##�	��������������	���	���%��������	�����	�������&'()� ����������	���� ������������	��$�������	����$������ ����	������������������	��������*�	�������	������������������	�������������������������������	�	��$�������� !����	����������*�	�������	�����+,-������	�����#��������	���������������������#�
	�	��
�����#������ ����	��	����.	������������	���	���	�	����	����������
�#�
	�	��
�����#�/���������	��������������������	

��������� ����	��	����.	������������	���	�������	�	����	����#�
	�	��
�����#�/���������	��������
���
�������	��������	��	��������	�������������	���	������� ��������	����������"������ ���
���������������	���	��#���������������������	�����������0�	�	�������� ��������� ������� ��#���������	
������������������������#����������	����������"������ ���
���������������	���	���������	����	��������	��������������������	����������������	������������� �������������������������������#����	��������0�	�	�������������	������	��#�������������	�������	��#���	������#���	���������	����������"������ ���
���������������	���	���������	����	��������������������� ������������	�������������������������#�#	
������������
��##��������������#��#������������	���123��������4�����	�������5667�������������������##������ ������������	���	���������	����	����	������	����������	����������������	������	�������	����������� !����	�����8�9:;<=>>?@AB;@CBDEFD?DG=@H=B;>>IJ;@H=B578�4����
���
�������	��������
�����"��#���	�	���	��	������������������#�����������������

	��������� �	��������

����������	������ ���$�	��
��	�����!�#������� ���8�5K8�L�	������	��
����#���	�	�����������#��������������

�������������������� �������������
� �� 	���
��������������!�����	���������#���8�5M8�L�������
��	�����
����

���������������	�#���
�������	�	�������*�	��� �����������	���������	�	���������#������������#����������

	��������� �	��������

����������	������ ���8�568�L�������
��	����#���	�������������

	��������� �	��������

������������ ��#�	��������������	����������������	�����������	������������	������������������	�����������	����������������	�����������	������������	���������� !����	������������������	�����������	����������������� ���������	�������������	�����"���##�	��������������	���	������������	������������	���������� !����	���������� ���������	�������������	�����"���##�	��������������	���	���%
Page 39

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

������������������	�����	�����������������������	�����������������	����������	����������������	������������������	�������� �	�������	������������������	�������������������������������	�	������������!����	���������� �	�������	��������������	�����"��������	#��������������������"�
	�	��
�����"���#�������	�#	����$	������������	���	���	#	����	������#���
�"�
	�	��
�����"�%���������	��������������������	

������#�������	�#	����$	������������	���	�������	#	����	����"�
	�	��
�����"�%���������	��������
���
�������	��������	��	��������	�������������	���	����������������	����������&����������
���������������	���	��"���������������������	�����������'�	�	�����������������������������"���������	
������������������������"����������	����������&����������
���������������	���	���������	����	��������	��������������������	����������������	���������������������������������������������"����	��������'�	�	�������������	������	��"�������������	�������	��"���	������"���	���������	����������&����������
���������������	���	���������	����	����������������������������������	�������������������������"�"	
������������
��""��#�����������"��"������������	���()*��������+�����	�������,--.�������������������""��#����������������	���	���������	����	����	������	����������	����������������	������	�������	������������!����	�����/�012134556789::1;9<=58*>/�+����
���
�������	��������
�����&��"��#	�	���	��	������������������"��������������!�"����?��

����������������������������������������������	��������������!�"���������""�	�����������������������	
?������	������������!����	�����/�*,/�@�����!�"����?��

��������	

�	��������
������������
��

������������	������#���������������!�"���������������������/�������	�	�����#��������	
	������"�����"��"���	���������������
��

�������	��"��"���	������"����������������������	�������������������
�#��������	�����������!����	��������#���������������	�����������!����	����/�**/�A������	���������!�"�����������""�	������������	���""�	��������	�������������	����������	��������������!�"��������""�	������������!�"����?��

����������������	#��������������������������
��������������'�	#�
�����"��	�
����"���	�	
	����

����������	���������#�	
��
��������	�������'�	#�
��������	������������������	
/�BCDEEFGHCIJ�KGGFLMINOP�*(/������	���

����������������	����
�����������
�������

����"���	�
����"���	���������������������������	��/�A�����������	�	������
��
	&�����"��#	���������	���"�	�������������
��	��
����"��#	�	��������	�������
�����

��������	�����	���������/����������	�������"��#	���	��	��������������������"���������������

����������	�����#�������"�	��	�����"���������"��	������	�����	������������������������"�����/�*)/�A������������	

���	����

�����"���	�

�����"��������������	�����	�������	�����	���

����������������

�����"���
���	����
�/Q*R/�@��#�
���������	��������

���������������	����
���������������	

���������������"��������������	���������"���	�	
	�	�����	��������������������

�������/�*./�A������������	

���	����

�����"���	�

�����"������������������	���������"���	�	
	�	�����	������������"��	�
����"���	�	
	����

���������������

����������������	����
���������������	��/�*S/���!�"����?��

������������
�������	����
������������!�"����	��"���	�

�������

�����"��������������	�����	��/�*T/�U�"�������?�������?��

�������������������	����
������������	

���/�
Page 40

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

���������������� !"#�$%�&''$(�"�)*�+,-�.����������/������

��������	���/�����0����������	���/��������������11
�������/���/����������1���	2�
���������3��	��	�����������	����	�
������	����	��������/���/����	��/���-�45-�.������������	

�����6���������	������	�
	������/�������	��������
�2�
�����

��������7�-�-��������������	

���	���11�	�������������8����	2�0�������������	�
�������1��	�
����1���	3	
	����

������90���������
�2�
�����

��������/���3���11
	���������1���	2�
����������	/�������	��������	���/���������������-�4:-�;���1���������/������	���1���
��/���/�6������//�����	���0���������
�2���0�������������������1��/����������	����������2��/����������//�����	���/���3��3��6�����-�������	�	����	

�3����<�	���������2����������������������//�����	���-�&""=�'�&�>=* ?)" *�$%�&''$(�"�)�')@)'*�4+-�������/������

��������/���/�6��1��2	�	���������������
���A���/��������

�����������3���������	����3������������������	���8����/���3���1��	�	���3������������	������������	����	����������/�-�B�������/��/����3��1�3
	�	�������������0����������������	������3�����/�����-�44-�.�����������
���������/�������������/��	��������������3�����������
�	/1����������	���8������	�����	��	�����������/�0���������/�����

�����3�����/��������2��3�����/�����0�������������������	����	

�������2��������6�������//�����	������/�	���	���1���������/������	���1���
-�4C-�.�������1���
�/�6���������//�����	���������

�������
�2�
������
��3�������/	����������	���������	���80�	������
���
���/�6��������//�����	�������������
��������	���8�����
������3������������	�����	��-�;����������0����	���8�/���������������/��������������������3��������������������//�����	������	��	������������/����	���1���������/������	���1���
-�DEFGEHIGJKLLEMKINOPJ4Q-�������/��/����1��2	����������1������/����������

����1������������

�������������	���������������	�
��-�B�������	�������/�����	2�����	���	����	�	����������1��1������	�����������������	��-R�
Page 41

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

���������������� !�"� !� #�$�%& �$'#�( �"' �)�*+,�-	���	��.�������������������/������������	
��0��������1
	�������0�	���	�����	���2���������0������	���2���
,�3���2��2���������	��2���
�	�����0�4������00�����	�����������������	��.����������	�	���	����������������5�	���2���
.��1���������

�����������1��2�	�����0�01���,�6����������������2���
�����1
	�����1�����������	��	���������������7���0����8���9.��������2���
��	

�0�4������00�����	�����1���������

�����������1��2�	�����0�01����	�������������1������������	
�,�*:,�6���2���������0������	���2���
���	

�0�4������00�����	�����1��������
�7�
����1��	���

������������

�0�01���.�����
�7�
�����2��	�
����2���	1	
	����

������������������0����������
��1��2�	�.������������������2�������;�������;��

������.����7�
�������1�	��������

��������������<�2����;��

�����������
��1��2�	�.���������
�7�
������������

�������,�*=,����������������������.��2����2������2��+>.����?����2���
?��	

�	��
������5�	���2���
������2���
�����1
	�����1���������,��������������������������?�����22�	��	���������	��?��	

�	��
�����22�	��	���������	�	���	���	���0����������������2���
�����1�����22�	�����1���������0����
���
�������	�	��.���.�������2���
�����1
	�����1���������.���������������1������������	
��������0������2���
�	��0�4	�������00�����	���,�@ABBCDEFGHFIJFKDFCDLAHADLADBFMANGDAMKBCIDFHKDAOF*P,�3���QRR*�����
��	����2��7	�����������������	���2���������0������	���2���
����������2.���������������
�������	�	���8S�01���;��

�������9�����
��	����QRRT.�	�����

�����	��������2������2��7	�	�������00�����	�������������
�7����������	��,�6��������02��	�	����������2���
������������02
���	�������QRR*�����
��	��������������	���0����������������	����������1��*R���7�01���QRR*,�U��������������	�������������������
����7����2���
.�	��0�������������2�1��������0������,�VR,�3������0����
���
�������	�	��������1
����������������
��	�����������1
	�������0�	���	����5�	���	���2���������0������	���2���
������7	������0�������	������0��,�VT,�W������2���
�0����0�4����2����������00�����	������������22�	��	���������	�	��,�����
�������	�	�������
������	����������������1
	��	����������5�	���2���
����
��1������22��2�	�������������������	7���������0����	�����	��
���
��	���0�������,�6��2���	��
��.������������	
����������	���	�����5�	���2���
�������	

���������������������	�����
����00����2�1
	������	������	�������������������
���
�������	�	������������,�VQ,�3���QRR*�����
��	�����
���2��7	����������������0�������1
	�������0�	���	�����	���2���������0������	���2���
����0�4������00�����	������������������1������������	
��������	���

������������0��,�U���������������������1
	������������2���
����0�4������00�����	��������������1������������	
�.�������������2���	��
����������1������������	
��������������7����������������������00�����	���.�	��	��������X�	�����������1
	���	�������2���
�8���5�	���2���
9,�YBZAMFKGBZIMCBCA[FV*,�3���QRR*�����
��	����2��7	�������������	��������	�	���0������7��������������������00�����	����������	���2���������0������	���2���
��������������	���1����	���	���0�01����������0	�����,�3�����������	�	�����������01	�����	���������	��.�5�	���������	��\����1
	�����1����������
���7���0��������TP=>.�����/������������	��.������	���
�]��4�������	����������������7��	���1���������������������������	���������
�1�����,�U�	
������2���
����������0	���	���������	������������	�	����	

�����0�4�����2��	�	������00�����	���	����
��	��������������������������	��.���7	���������������������00�����	���	��0�4����1����������0	���	���������	��;���

���������	

�2��7	�����0����	������������������������������	��������0�4	���	�����������0�,�ĤHICDBNADBFIJFBZAFHKDAOFVV,�3�������
��	������X�	��������	���2���������0������	���2���
����7�����
�����������0�01���,�
Page 42

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

�����������������
���
�������	����	

�������������	���������������	�����	�������	�������
�����	��������	��������	����������	 �
���	 �����������	��
���
���
��	���!��������������	
������
��� �	������
��
���������
����	������
��"�����"
�����"�����������	 ��������"
	�
����������"
�������������
��������!!�����	������#��$���!�!"�����������	�������������!������	�������
��������"��!�!"�����������
���
�������	���	���������������	������������
�!�%�������!!�����	�������������������
��"���	�&��
	�	������!�"�	�������
������!�!"��������
���
�������	���'��������	���()������������
��� ���!��������*+,-���������	����,+�����(.'		/������������
��� ���!��������-)))/�	���
����	�&��
	�	������!�"�	�����!�!"���������	���������������
���,��$���!�!"�����������	�������������!������	�������
���������
���"��!�!"�����������!!	������������"0��!!	�����������������	���	���������������	�����������
�!�%�������!!�����	�����$�	��	��
�������0������!�!"������(��$���-)).�����
��	���������������	���������
���
�������	���!�������"�����	��	���!�!"�������	�����!������	�������
����
���
�������	����	

�������������	����������

�������
���	�������	��!��������������� 	���������������	����	������������������������������������	������������!!�������"
	������	������������������

�������!!��	�	���	������
���
�������	��1���������+��$��������	
�����
���������������	��!���������������	���	������	�����	��"�����"
���������
��	������!�!"����	�����	���	�������������!������	�������
�"�	������
��	����������2���

�&��
	�	�������	�����������������	���������������
����������������	 ����������	 ���	������������!!��	�	���	������
���
�������	��1���������)������
�������	�	���!����	�������� ���	�����������	������	��
���
�����������!����	��������%�����	��
������%���
����2���������� �
���������������������
���
�"��	�������!!��	��2�	��������	����������������������	������������	
��!�������	����	��"���������������!"	���	�������� ���	�	�������	� 	�	�����������	������������������	�������3���

�����������
���
�������	����	

���������������������	�������	��!������������	������������"
	�������	�����*����
���
�������	�������
���	 �� �������	��������	�����	���������
����������	�������	���������������	���	�������������!������	�������
�"����
���������"
	���������	��������	��	�������������$��!�	���	����������	"	
	������	�������
���
���
�������	����	

�������������	���������4����������	�����!�2�	�������

2����	�������
�!�!"��������������	��"
��!�!"�����������
���
���!!��	����5�
	�	��
�����	��!����2���������	��!�������	�������!��������������	�����	����������������������
������	��	����������!�!"����������������	
�����
���
�����"��� �	����6�-������
�������	�	�������
������	���� ����������

�������4����������������	����1���������	�����������
	�	��
�����������������������������������������	�%�����������	 ���	�������������������
1�������	�����������������	��������"������	�������.��3������	��	���	�������
2���
���
�������	�������
������	��������	�����1�%���
��������
���
��� ���!����������������	�����%���
�������
��%������!	
	��	����	������������	������������	
������
������"����"����������	��!���������$���
���
�������	����	

�������������	�������������������	�������!�!"����������	�������������!������	�������
�������	�2����������������

�����������
�	���
��������	�����	������	���!�!"����	

�����������	�������$���
���
�������	����	

�������������	�����������!�������	������!�!"���������������
��$�������
��	

�"����&�	�������!�%������!!�����	����������������	
������ ������������	
����	������2��	��	������
	!	����������
��2��	������� �%������!����	���������������!���$�������
�!���"���!��!����������	 �����	���%���
�������������������	������!�!"���1��

��������	��	�����������#��������	��
��
���
�������	�	���!����	����������	��������	��	���!�!"���������������
����������!�������	�������� ���
������2���������.0�������������
�������	�	���!����
����	����������	��������	�������	��!��������������������������	���
���������!�!"��������������
�����������!���4���	������$����	�	���

�2��������	����������	�������������!������	�������
���	�����
��������	�����������	����������	����$�	�����
��"�����	� ���"���	����	���
��������������	��!�����
Page 43

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

�������������
���
�������	����	

��
���������������	����������
��	����	��������������	����������������������
������
����
���������������	����������	��	���	����������
�����������	� �!" �����
�������	�	����	

��	������������������������������������	�	�����������	�������������������������	��������������������	�������
�	��
�������#	�	��������	����������������������
���
�������	��������	����������#�����	�����	������������������������
 �$����%���
�&���������������������
�������������	�����	�������������	�����������	
����������	�	��
�������� �'���
���
�������	����	

��	��������������������	�����#	�	�����������������
���������	������	���
���������������
	�	��
����#�%��	�������� �!( �'����	�������	����������������������������
��	

�#��������	��	��
	)�
����������������	

����������������������������������	���������������	�	������	�������������	�������������������
������� �����
�������	�	����	

�������������	��������
	)�
���	�������	������������%�������������
����)����	���
�����������	�����������������	���������������� �!* �'���+,,-�����
��	�������#	������������
���
�������	���	����
����������

���������������
�������� �'������

�����������������������������
���
�������	������������	�� �'���
���
�������	�������
����

���������	#������
����������������������

����������������������������	���� �., �'���
���
�������	�������
�����#	�����������
��	����������	�������	�	�����	#��������� �/01�2345�36�701�89:1;�.< �'�������
��	�������#	�������	��������������������	�������
�������#��������

��	��������	���=>?�����)�������������	�����������������	��������������������������	���

����������������
����������
�����	����
��������������>?�����)�������������	�����������������	��������������������	�	
	�	���������	�����	�������
��
����������������������������	�
��������	�	
	����

����������������������������������������

�������>?�����)�������������	�����������������	����������������	���������	��������#�

	�����������	��������

����������������	����������������������������	���

�������>?�����)�������������	��������������������������@���������

�������>?�����)�������������	����������������������������	������

�������������������
��	��
��������

�������	������������������%����������������	���������������������	
������������������������	��	���������)��������������������	��&�����������������	���

��������������������������	���	��	��������	����>?�����)�������������	��������������������

�����������
��������)����������������	��	���������	����	�
������	�������#��������������������	�����������>?�����)�������������	�����������������������
���A�������������

�������
�#�
���������������������������������	���%&����&�	����&���������
�����������������������
������>?�����)�������������	������������	�����������������������	����������������	�
����������	����	��������������	���������������������������	���"��������B����������	�������<*"+�>?�����������	������	���

���������������	�
��������	�	
	����

������������������	���������������	������������	�������������
� �.+ �'���
���
�������	����	

�����������������������������
�	���
����������	������	�����������	�����
��	����	���	��	�����)	�� �'���
���
�������	����	

������������#	�����������
��	���	�������	���������������
�����������	

����	������������	���������������	����	�������������	�����������������	���������	��������	��� �'�������
��	

������	�������	����������������	�����������������	
 �.- �'�������
��	

�����������#��������������	��	�������	�� �C�����	�	��&���������
�����	���
������	�����������������������������
����������	

���&���������������)�	�������	����������������)����������	��������������������	�������
� �
Page 44

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

������������������������	
�����
�� ��!	������� ���
��	�����������������������������������	��������	���������������������
���
��� ��!	������� ���
��	����� 	��������	����	��������"������	��� ���������#������	��� ���
��	

�����������$��	��������������	����	�����%�	�� ���	��
����������������	��
	������	�� ������ ����&'()�*�
��%������#�$	���	�������##�����	����������������	
��+,-./0�,�123454�67�,8869,/241�����:��#�$	�����������#������

���������������	
�����
����!������������������������	������	�� ������ ����&'()�*�
���;<=>?@A=BBCD=E@FA�&��G������ ��)H�����	
�����������������	����*��	���

�������	��	�������������!����I�!	�������*
	����������
���
������	

������%�����������������	���������!�����������������$������
���
�������	�	����	

�����������$����!	��������������������	��%�����������#*������������������	��%������	

�������������*����#�����������(��:��	��	# ��������������#���
�#��������������$����#�#*��������	��������*��!�
�������'��������#������������������#������������	��#����*��*�
���������	�����������������������������	����	�
�
����	���������������*���
������#�#*���%���������������������������%���� 	�������	� �����J�	���%� �� 
����������������������#��������������
������#�#*����������������	�����!	������������##��	���	������	������K������
���
�������	���#����	�������������������������#������	���������#������������*����	����*������������	
���������	���	��*���������������	���
�L#�
�M�#��	�����	��'��

����������
������	!�
�������#����	������
��$����
���
��������	���
���������������������#������#�#�����  �� �	�������#�����������������

�������� �	�����#�#*�������	�����##��	��������
�������	�	���#����
����	����������	���������

��������������#������	�����	���	�� �	�����������#�#*�����������!�
�������������������#�#*�������
���
����
�����������NOF@?=BAPF>OCE>?Q?B?RSA=BBCD=E@FA&H��T ��	�
���� ���	*	
	����

�������LT��M�#���*�� �	�����������#�#*����������������	
�������!���	��	�	��������	�	���
���� ���	*	
	�	��%��!��������*�!������������

������ �������	�������������	

����������� ��	�
���� ���	*	
	�	���#����*����
�������������	���������������������	��U�������	�����&)����������
��	�����������
	#	��������#*������� ��	�
���� ���	*	
	����

����������	���#���*�� �	�%����������������
��	���� ���	*	������ ��#�������#�������������� ��	�
���� ���	*	
	����

������������������#�#*����&V��I���!��%�����������	# �����������	�����	��������
���
�������	�	����:������#�W��	������#�#*��������������	
�����	!����� ��	�
���� ���	*	
	����

�����������
���
��
���������#����	���
��J����	�������������	������W���	�	��������
�������	�	����	

��	����������	����!����������

���������	�	���
���
������#�#*�������������	��	�	�����������������
��%�*����	�����#�������� ���	*	
	����������
��	#����##	�#����*���������	�	�����	����	

������������� ��#���������� ��	�
���� ���	*	
	����

��������&X��:�������������������	
����

���������� ���	��
������ ���	*	
	�����	���	��!����������� ���	��
���#�#*���	�����	��	�	��������	�	���
���� ���	*	
	���������	������ ��	�
���� ���	*	
	����

�����������
��*�� �	�������
�������	�	����	

�������������	��������� ���	��
������ ���	*	
	�	���!����������

���Y�	
����������� ���	*	
	�	���#���*����	J�������� ���	��
���#�#*���	��#���*��������

����#����#�#*������!����#���������� ���	*	
	������!���	������������T�������	���#�������
����������	��	�	������Z�������$
���������������� ���	��
���#�#*����*�!����������������������������� ���	*	
	�	�������
��*��������	����������	#����##	�#������������	
����$���	���	����$���
�������	��	������*��	���

������������������ ���	*	
	�	���������	������ ��	�
���� ���	*	
	����

�����������
��*������##�������&���:�����	�	��%����� ���	��
���
���
�������	����	

���������
��$�������

�������������������	��������	���	�������������#	�	���	�������#��������������#������	

�#�������������������	��!	��*
����������	������ ��	�	���������� ���	*	
	���������������	
%�*����	�����#�������#*����������$
�����
Page 45

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

���������������������	

�����	

���������	����	��	�	����
�������������	���	����� �����	
����	�������������!������!	���
���������������"�#����������������$���������	����������	�	���
�����	����������������	

�����������������������������������	���������$�����������%�����$������������	

������������������	�������!	��&���	�������������������	�����"�'("�)�����������������
���
�������	�������������������������
��������������	�����	����!��!	������������	�������	����������
������������������
���
�������	����	

����������������	���
������������	�	���
��������	�	
	�	�����������������������	����������������	�	���������

��������������������"�'*"�+�!	���������	������	������	�������
�������,���
����������	��	�	��������	�	���
��������	�	
	�	��$�����
���
�������	����	

�������������	��������
�!�
���������	�
��������	�	
	����

���������	����������������������������"�������������	�����	���	��������	�	�������	�
��������	�	
	����

�����������������������������

���������	�������
���������������������������	���������	��������������������	
�-��	�������������
�������������������
�����.����������������������������������������
�����	���	��������������������������	!������/�����

������"�#������������
��
��	�������	�
��������	�	
	����

��������������������,�������������
�!�
�������	���

�������������������������
�	�
�������	���

��������������������	��������	�
��������	�	
	����

������������	����������
�������������������
�����"�012134536789:5;1;7895<<=>53:19''"�?�������
�����������������������������

�������	��������!�	
��
������
���������������������������	��"�)�������
���������������
�!�
�������	���

������"�'@"�����
�������	�	����	

��	����������	��������������	���

�����������
�������������������
���������	�������!����������	�������������������������	��������������%�	���"�?���������	����������	�����������������

�����������
��������A�����������/	������������
������	!�
�$��������������

����������	���	

�����%��
��������������	�������"�B;5C1<953497DE7F7613:195<<=>53:19'G"�?�������
���������������������

������������������!�	
��
�������������	����������������!�

	�����������	������"�)������������������	������	������

������������!�
���������	��������

�������$���������
�!�
���������������

������"�@H"�I���
������
������	������
�!�
�����

���������	����	���������������
���/������������!�����������J�����!�
���������	������������"�?�������
��������������$������/���
���������������	�����	�!�	�	��������������
���������
���

����������	����������!����

����!�
��������	��������	��	��������	��
������	��"�)����,	������	�������������	��$���������
�����
����,��	������������������������������������	������������������	�	���
����������&������	!�
�"�K=L=26117895<<=>53:19@M"�?�������
�����������������������������������������!�������������	����������������	������������������	���������������������������������������	��"�)�������
�����,���������������	�������������
�!�
�������������

������"�)����	������	�������	����������	�������������������	������������������	�������&������"�������
������������������	���	�������������&�����������
�����!�
������"�+���!��$�����	�����	�������
������	!��������������������������������&�����	

��������	!�����	�����!	�������
���
���!�������$�������������	����������&����������������	����	�

���	���!��������������	���	!	�����	!	��" NOPQRSRTU�@V"�?���VHHW�����
��	�����
���������	�����	������
���
�������	�	���	���������	����	������
	�	�	������������������	���������������	��	��������������������	�������
$����	�������������

���������������������
��

����������	�������������	�������	!�������"�@W"�?�������
��	������%�	���������������������������
�������	���
������������	!	��������������������	������
���	��������������������
�������������	���$�
���
�������	�	�����������������������	����������������������!�	
��
������	������	���������	����	��	��
����	�������

���������
�������"�����
�������	�	���
Page 46

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

�����������������
�����������������������
�������	���
�����������������	 ����������������
	��������	���	�����
��������������������	���
��	���	�����	���������	���!"����������������������	����� ������	 ��������������	������������	���������������
����������	�������������

��������!"���������������	���������������������	
	�����������
�������������	��������� �	
��
������	������	���������	����	��	��
����	�������

���������
��������!"�������������������������	����	��	��
����	���!"�����	����������	����������������������
#�������������	����	��
��	�������������������

����������������
���������������������
����������
������
�������������$�%&$�'���())*�����
��	�����
�����+�	��������������������������
	��������,�����	��������������
#������������������������������������
�������������
���
�������	�������������	��$�%-$�.���������������
���
�������	��#�������������

����������������
��	������+�	���������������������������
�������	���
��������������	�	����������������

���������
���
�������	�	�����������������������	���������������������� �	
��
������	������	���������	����	��	��
����	�������

���������
�������$�����
�������	�	���������
�����������������������
�������	���
��������������	�	�����������������
	��������	���	�����
��������������������	���
��	���	�����	���������	���!"����������������������	����������������������������

�������������������	���������	��������������������������!"���������������	���������������������� �	
��
������	������	������	����	��	��
����	�������

���������
��������!"�������������������������	����	��	��
����	���!"�����	����������	�������������������������	��
��	�������������������

�������������
������
�������������������������������!"������������	��������	�	������������������������	��������������������������������	����������	��������������������	�������
�!"�����	����������	����������������������
#�������������	����	��
��	�������������������

����������������
���������������������
����������
��������	���
�������������$/!"�����	���������������	�	
	�	���������	���	���������������	������
�����	���������������������	�
��������	�	
	����

�������������� �

	�����������	��������

������$������
�������	�	������������������������������	���	�����
	������ ����0(��������� ���	�����������������������������������	��������
�������	��$�%1$�'���())*�����
��	�����
�����+�	��������������������������
	��������,�����	��������������������������������������������
�������������
���
�������	�������������	��$�%2$�'����	��
����
	�	�����+�	�������	����������
��	����	��������������������������
�������	���
�������������������������������	��������������
������
���
�������	�	����������,��������������������������
	���	���	�����	������������������
�������	�����	�����������������	����������������	�������	�
��������	�	
	������� �

	�����������	����������3������#���������������#�������#��

�������$�%%$��

����������
	�	�����+�	�����������������������	�	������+�	�������$�����
�������	�	�������
�����
	�	���������	��
���������������������	������
�����	�������������

�����������������������	����������������$�'�	������
��	��
���������������	�
������
	��	�����	��	�������	���������	�������	�������	�����������	
#����������������4������������� �����5$������
�������	�	��������
����	����������	����	��
��	���	�����	�����	������������	
������������������	�	
	�	�������
�������������������������	��������	�������	��������	����������	���

�������	��	���������������������$�
Page 47

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

��������������� !"!#��$�%�#&! !#� �'()����������	���*�����*����	�������*������

����������+�������	������������������
����,��������*�+�����-
	������+�-��./�0���*-���122.)�3��*���������-��������	������)�3��	����������	��*���-��4����������*���*��������������*	���	�����������������122.�����
��	���)�5$$#6��78 �9#��:;�!����<�=!78�:;�!��#9�%�!�7!>�$�:#?�7!$ �(2)�3�����	�	����������@��,	�	����	����������
��	��������������@��,	�	������������@��*��������

��������	����������
���,���*��������/(A1)���@�	��	@�
������	
�*���@����������	������,	������	������

���������	���	����	�4���������-
����������@��@�������*���	��������B@������������������	����C�.CDE+������DCFE+������������
���,���*��������/(A1E)�G�	��	��������4��������H�	,	���	��	���	����

������H)�5$$#6��78 �9#��I8JK8� �#9�%��! ;�:#?�7!$ �LMNOPQRSMPOTRMUUVWMXTYR(/)�Z��	��������	
��*�������������@������	��*�*-��������

������+�4��������H@��	���-��	���

������H+����������	��������	*������������������@���	�������	��@��	������	��)�G�����	������-
	���	������@��	��������	
�����@���������

�������)�[����@��	��������	
�*���*�4������

��������,�	
�-
�����	������	����
�+���������������	���*�*-���)�\������

�*�*-��������	,�]����

������+������*�����@���-
������������	��*���-���	����������������@�	�����������*�*-���+�-���������	��������*�����@�	����������*�*-���*����-��������*�)�Z��	���-��	���

�������	�����	�����	�������

������)�3��*���-��@�	��	����
�*@���*+�������	����,�
���������������������)�(1)�3����@��	��������	
��	��������@�����-��	���

������+�	������
����,������������������**�����	������*�	���@��	�����*������	���@���
)�G�	��	����@���
������@����*�4������**�����	�������@��	�����	��	�������)�G���*�*-����	@������@��	�����*������	���@���
��	

�-��������*���������	���@���������*������	���@���
���������	���	������������������	
��	��	�����������������@��	���	���	������)�G���@���
��	

�*�4��������**�����	������������*�-��	���

�����������
��-��@�	�+���������
�,�
���������

������)�N̂M_YURMX̀RPaSPOPbYXTYRMUUVWMXTYPR(.)���@��	��������	
�*����
���@���	���*�*-�����

��������	�����@����������,�
�������-�	������)�G����������	�����	�������

�������)�G����*���-��@�	��	�����@����������,�
�������-�	�������-����	��	�����������	�������-���������������@��	��)��

���������������,�
�*���	��
�����

���������������,�
�-�����c*����	���������@���+�����������-	���
�)�(F)�G��,�
�������-�	��������

��������*�����
��-��@�	���������,�
�������-�	�������	�����@�������de��*���	����������������	���de��*���	����������**	����������-c��**	������������������	���de��*���	��������*��������-���������	�������������	���*�4���@@�	��*����������*	���	����de��*���	����������**	����������-c��**	����������-���������	�������������	���*�4���@@�	��*����������*	���	����de���	����������4������-���
���������������	���	��@���������������������	�����������f�	�	�����*�*-������*�*-�������-��@���������	
�������������*����������@����)�de��*���	��������
���
�������	��������	��	��������	�������������	���	����*�*-���de���	����������4������-���
���������������	���	���������	����	��������	��������������������	����������������	�������������-��������������������*���������*@����	��������f�	�	�������������	������	��@�������������	�������	��@���	������@��*	����
Page 48

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

������������������������������������� ������������	���	���������	����	����	������	����������	����������������	������	�����!!	����������� "��!!	�����#�$%#�&��	���	�����������������
������� �	��������

�������'������	��������	
�!���������
��	������	�����!������	�������
#�(�������
��	

�!�)��������!!�����	�������������
���
�����

�������'������������	���	���������������	������������
�� ����	�#*+,-./012134564133521789:4$;#������	��������	
�!���!�)������	�	��������������������!�! ���	�������������������	�

���������������!����	�����	��'��

�����������������

������������ ���	����
�#�(����!����
�������	�������������

���������
��������	��	������������������	���������	�����!�! ������� ��������������!���� ������	�#�<50=5,7=4133521789:4$>#������	��������	

���!���������������������	����

�����������������

������������	�����������
��������	��� �����	�
��#�(�������������!�����	�����	��������	��������������������	��������������	��������	
#�<,7178,13435::41335217894$?#�(���@AAB�����
��	������!�����������	������������	�	�������

������	��������	

�������	����	�
�
�����

�����������������	���C>B������������
�������!��������C$>@#�D��	��������	

��������	������� ����	���������	��� ��	���

����������������
������� �	��������

�������������!�����������!��������	�����	���������������	
#�EFG3,8,-H4$$#�D��	��������	
��������I�	��������� 
	�	������	���

��������	�������	���������	���������	������	�����	������#�(��������	����!������!�	��	���
�����������
�����CJ�����#�&�����	�	��'������!����!�)�������������������

��������������������	�����	
� 
������	������	������������� 
�����	��#�(����!��������	������	��������	��������������I����'�����!������������������� 
������������	�#�D��	�����!�����
����� 
	�������	
������������	�����!������	�������
��������#����	�'�����������!	�	!�!���I�	��!����'��������	��������	
��!����	�����������������	��!�)	���
���
�����
��������������	���

������������!���������!����
���
�#�K����L�!�
�������!����	�������	���
��������	
��������	���

��������	���������	�������
�����'�	���������������'��
�������!�������� ��	��'������ 
	������!�	���������!����
���
�����������#�E10,:.409MF7901-,574N1793:4CAA#�O��������������

�����������	��������	
������
�������������������������!!�����	������������	�����!������	�������
#�(�	������
�	��������� �����	���	������������������	
��	��	������������������	��������	
�	���	�����������	���������������������P�������	 
�P�������	��#�O����������	��������	
�	�����������������������	��������	
������ 
	������������CC������������
�������!��������C$>@'�������	��������������

���	��������	��	�������	���	������������������	
'�	����������	 
��������	����	

� ������������	����	��	����	�������!�Q��	�����������
���������������������������	�����
	��#�CAC#������	�����!������	�������
�!��� ������ 
	����� �����������	 
��������	��#��
������	��
�'��������!�����������	 
��������	�	���!���Q�	��
�����!������	�����!������	�������
#�&������	���	��������������Q�	��
������ 
	��������	�����!������	�������
'��������	 
��������	�	�������
������	������������	�����
�� ���������	�������������������	��'���)	���	������������
���
��	���!�������#��������	 
��������	�	�������
���
�������	����������������Q�	������	�����!������	�������
����
����!!������ 
	������	�������	��	���������	�����������	���	��!��������!!�����	���#*CA@#�(���!�! ����	����������	�����!������	�������
��	

� ��������!���������	�������������!������	�������
���������������	 
��������	������������	�	��#�R������'�����������!�! �����������������	 
��������	��P������
�	���
�����!�! �����������	���	���������������	����������	�����!������	�������
�!���!�)��������!!�����	������������
������ ����!�! �������������	�����!������	�������
#�
Page 49

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

������������������	��������	
��������	��������	������������	�������
������������������	�����	

������	��������� ��
�����������������������	��������������������
!�"#$!������	������������	�������
���������������������	�����������

������������������	������	��������	��	�������������������������	�
��������	������������	�	��!�%��������������	��
�������������	������
�	�������

��������	������	��	�����������&�������������	��	'	���
������������	����������������	��!�%���	

�����������������	���������������������	������	���

�����������
������'�	
��
������

�������������������	��������	
&������
������������	�!�%���	

��
�������������������	�����������������	���������	������'�
���������	��������

���������������
�	���!�"#(!�)�������
��	

��
���������������������	���������������������������	������	���������'�
���������	��������

�������!�)����������������	�����	

�����*��������	�������������������	����!�)���
�'�
�������	������	���

��������	

��
�������*���������������������������������������������������������	��������������������	�������
���������������	�
��������	������������

�����������������������	�
��������	��!�)��������������������������	���������������	��
��	���"##+!�,-./01213/.456-371013/05"#8!�9��	��������	
�&�	�������������&��	

������
������������	������	���

�������������������'�����������������������������	���������	�����	������������	�������
!�:��	
�$"�;��������<##$&�������	

�����	���������	��������	�����
�������������������������	����	�
�
�����

����������������������
���'������������"=><!�?���'��&��������������������������	������	���

��������������������������	����	�
�
�����

�������	�������������������������	���������	�������	��!�@����$"�;��������<##$&�����	����">$A8������������
���'������������"=><��	

�����	����
	���	����������������	��������	
�!��������&�	��������	�����������

��������������������	���������	

���
�������
���������������������������
��	���!B
Page 50

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

����������������� �!�"#$��%�&�'()��*+�")+�",+�"�$-�.$*�%�/$0+)�,+�"�1$(�*#%%$)'2��� �1#0#*�3#4�#"�)#+'2��%%$5��*+'��� �+�6+�'+'�����"#$��$-�7+,8+)'2�9%%$5��*+'��� �:�6+�'+'�;<=>?@AB=C?<DEFGH�I�	��J����J��K	����������
���	���������������L������M�������M�MN���O��

�������H�P����K����QR������
�K������L���
���QR��	����

��������������L�N
��QR���������M��������LJ������	��������N����M�MN��������	��������JJ��K������	�����	���������	MN������N������������	���QR�������L���
	���	���K�	
�N
�������LJ���������������������	��������������	MN����H�I�����	���
���������������	�����K��	����	K	���	��	���	��H�S���	����M��	�����K��	������	���
�P���������
	�N	
	������M�MN���O��

�������������LJ����������J������J��ETG��������H�I�	����	������	������N	��	���������������������������M�MN��O���	��������JJ��
H�����	��	������

������M�����������
������	���JJ
	������M�MN���O��

�������������LJ�����H�U�MN��������
�����������������
�K����
��	�
��	����������JJ��J�	���H��
������	K�
����������������������	����L����	��V������	

�N���N
�������
JH�WXYD=Z[DBXZ>\YDEF]H�S�����L�J��J����������	
�M�MN���������	K	���	��	���	���������������	��������M�������������������	��	K	���
�������
���������	������	������MJ
����H�̂���	��������	K������M�������	�������MJ
��M���������������N
�����	���M����L�����MJ
��M����	���M�H�_�̀ �̂�������M������JJ
���������������	�����������������������������MJ
��M���H�Ô���	���O��������	���M���	���a�	��	��
�������
��	��V�����V���������������������J���	�������	K������M�������	�������MJ
��M���H�P���
���	��
������

��������J�	�������K����LJ������	��������	�������	��������������	������������	�������MJ
��M���V���
�����������

��������������M�����������	MN������LJ�����������

��	��������������	�������������	N
��������L�J��J����HbcYdCYeDe?>DY[fY<gYgDEFhH�i����������MJ
��M����	���M���LJ��������
���jk���	���llG�a�llm�P���M��I�L�ĵ���	��������_���	���n�����oFFlV�jPÎ_��oFFlnnV�
���
���K���M���������	

���������	K	���	��	���	���������������L�������	�������QR���K�

	����LJ��������������	
��	��������	������J�����M���������������	���������	�����	���QR���������K�

	����LJ��������	�����
����������	������������������������������MJ���������pJ
����QR�����������LJ��������	�������	�����������

�V��L�
��	K�
��������������	
��	������J�����M�����������	�����	�	�
����	���N��������������LJ�������������K�
�	����J�����O������K��	�
���������
���	�����������J��������
�����������������
�M	
������LJ��������������������	N
�H�k���J������J��EoGjK			n�N�
��H�EFmH�I�������
���	��
���������	����������	�	���������K���������������J������LJ���	����H�I�������	�	��������QR	���

������������LJ���	�����M���������

��N��	�������H�k�V������L�MJ
�V�	���������	

�������	K	���	��	�����	��������K���	������������	
�N��	�����N����	����	��M�������K��	�������������	�����	�����������������	���������
�N	

�V�������M���N������LJ���	���������������	���������

�����������	K���������������	������
��N�������
Page 51

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

������������������

	����� ��������������	
��	��������	�� �����!	����������	�������������	�������
	!	��������� ���������	������������������
����!�!"���#�"��	����$��������! 
�������

	���"�����������
���
�������	������	���������� 
��������!�!"�������������	�	�����
���
�������!����"��	�����������! ���������% 
����	���� 
��������!�!"�����
���������������	���

������������������	��$������������������
	!	���������	���&���	�����������!���������'()�������%	����	!��������� ��	�������������	���*'�!�����+��������! ������ �� ���,�-��������
��� ���������"�������������������	������	������������� ��������������

	���"�����������!�!"���#���!������������! ���������% 
������������ ������������������� ��������������
��������! ���������% 
���������� ���	�����!����"��	��������	������ �����!������������	��	�	���
#�����	��,�-�	��!���������$����"��������	"
�$������� �����!����"��	��������	�������

�������	��������������	�������������	��,�.��	����������	�	�������������� �����	���	! 
����
��������$����	��������	���������	����	��$��������	�������������	��,�.�� ���	��
��$������ ������	

�"���

���"
����	���!���
�� �����������	�����
����	���� ��	�	������ �����!��������	��������������	������
��������� �������������������������������
��������! ���������% 
���������� ���	�����!����"������������������
��������������	������
��"����������	
���"
	�������	�����	�,�-�������������������	�����
����	������������$��� �����������/�	�������	������� ���	��
����� �����	����������
��	�����	�����������	��	��#��������	
�#�	�������,��
��$������� �����!�������!����!�������/�	��!������������0�"�	���
�$��������!����� ������
��	���!������������������	�����
���,�1��	��
�$�����#������	�������#��	

�"�����	��	���	��&������
��	�+���������������� ��������
�	����������	������
����������	����������� ���	����2���� ���	�������������	�������������������
�!�����
���"��	�����������

���������
��	��
��	������ �����!���������������	�����
���#�����	��,�3������! 
�$�	��!���"�����������������������	

��������������!����
� �����	������ �����!���������	������������	���4�"���������������!�����	
	���	�����	
�"
�����"��������
������� ������
���

�$����������
���������������	�����������
��	��
��	������ �����!�����������	���������������	���	������&���� ������ ��5*6&			+�"�
��+,�.�����	�	��$���������	���!�����
��"���	����������������������������� �����	��������������������������������	�������������
���������	��,�.�$������� ���	��
�����������������!���$�����������	�����	�	��������	�������!��������	������������������ ������
�	!��$����������	�������"���	�������	��������������	���!�$�	��
��	���	���!�����!����������	��������! 
��!����,�1	!	
��
�$��������������	

������������������

�������������	����������������
��������	���"�����	�
��$������ ������!���"���
�	!��������������	��,�789:8;<=�>??@ABCD8<�AEFDE�G;@HFI8�J89KC8;BLF@C�MNOPQRSSNTUVNPVWXRPVXPYVZU[QNPYXT\ZVXO]̂NTR]R[UV55(,��

������������"
������! 
��!����	���!��	��
����������

��	�����_��	���

���������1 ��	�
���� ���	"	
	����

��������� �̀ �������#�������#��

�����������4a ����#��

�������bXTRÛcV]NdPVXPYVQNWWOPR]\VQNOPQRSSNTUV555,�-���e��	���_��	���

�������	������"
������! 
��!����	���!�,�fNPgQNOPQRSSNTUV55*,�-���������
���������4a ����#��

�����������e��	���_��	���

�������������4�����	

��������������!��������� ��	��$������������!!��	��������	

������������	�� ������ ���55(�h�555��"���,�
Page 52

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

���������������� !"#!$�%&&'(�������	��	�������

����������	���)��*	�����+������	����	

�+����������������	

�,�����
	�,	
	������	���+����-.�,���	���	

��
���+�������������-)����������,���
�	+��������������	���/����)������)��&012�����+�������������	�
�+����������	�
������	���,����	��(345"6�7%"�8%9�:9!9#�� �%"77$;"� �9%&&<(�����
��������)��������	*��.������	

������������)����������+�

����*	�������)
�����������=�>�������������	
����	��������	�����	���
������
�����(�?����������	

�������������������	��������+���������������	������(�@������������	

�������������	���������������+������������=����)��������	*�����	������,���
��������������	
.�����

�������)�	���������*�
�,���������+���������������	
����	���������+��������)
������������	
�,��	�����	��	��
�����	��������
��
��	���������������
��������	,������)������)��&0A/*			2�,�
��(�&&1(�B��	��	���������������������������	

�������	��
��������������	������������+�.������

�������)�	���������*�
�,���������+���������������	
����	�����	

�,����-�,
��	���������+�
����(�C��������������������	

�������������������+�����=������+��>������-�+)
������	��������	
�)�)���������+)
��	���������)��������>����������+�=���������+�����	��	����)
����������=���������)��)��������
�	+	�����-���
	���������*�
��-)�����(�D���*��.�����

�������)�	���������*�
�,���������+����������)
���������	������+)���������=)
�����	

��
���,��	��
�����	��������
��
��	������)������)��&0A/*			2�,�
��(�&&A(�E������>�����	

���.������

�������)�	���������*�
�,���������+���������������	
����	�����	

�,����-�,
����
������������������������������+��	��	���
����)
����������=�	���������
�������������������	���>������	���������������
���������������	���	����������	
���,
	�������)�����+���,�����	*�����	��������(�&&F(�E������������+�������+	
������

��������)�	���������*�
���������	
�,��	�����������

�.�����)������)��&0A/*			2�,�
��(�&&G(�H�����,�	��������

��������������-�,
����
�������������)�	��	�����)������������-�����-)����������,�	�������	������������������I������������*�
���������	
�,��	�������������+����������	
����	���(�&&J(�?*���	������,�	��������

������������������-�,
��)��*	����������	������
�+�������)���	�(���)���	�����
����	��.������-�+)
�.�	����+��������*�

	�����������	
�,��	������������*���	�����	�����	����������
��	*���������������	��������
(�K!9L��9"#!$�9%&0M(���N�	�)�����	��N�	�������	����	*���,�����B��)���������C�-����������+)
�����	������B��)������	�����	��	���������-)������

��������)�	�����,����	���)��*	����,�������+)
��������
��,����

��+�������,������-)������������	��.��	�����������
������������-�
	�,	
	�����	���(����	�)�����	�����
	�*��������+)
����������������������)��������	
���������)���	��
����-)������)��+��������,����	���)��*	�������������*����������������+)
�����������	��>��
���(����������+)
�����������	��>��
���������������������+�	���	�����������-��������	��������������(�&0&(�C����	�)�����	�������������-�+)�����+���-�	��+���)�����	���������-)��������
��������	���,����-��(�C����	+�	������
	+	�������������������+	�	�����	*��,������������������-��	

�,�����.���������������������-�)�	�(�H	�)�����	����������*	��������+��	+������	+����������,����*�=��(�O������*	�������	�)�����	������������))
	���	������+�����,���,��	�������+�����C�-�?��	��(3&00(�H	�)�����	�������������))��)�	��������N��������+N��-)�������

�������(�P�������������

�������	���
���
��	�����������������+�����������	+,������-)�����������

��	��������	�������	������������+)
����N��������	��>��
���N�����	��.����������-)���������	����������
��,�����������������	�������+)
��+���.�����B��)������+���,��)��)��������������	���)��+������������

��������	������������	���Q�RS(�P��������	�����	�.�����B��)�������	

���������,�����	��	��.�����*��.�����������

�������	��������������,
�����
������	���
���
��	�����������������+�����������	+,������-)�����������

��	�������(�&0'(�O	
������-)������)��+������������,��	��
�����	�����	�)�����	��(�
Page 53

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

��������������������� ���������	������	�!�����	���	���!����	���������	�	�������
������	�������������������"�#$�����
��%���!!
	�����������

�������������!����&���'��!�������	

��	 ����	�����������	��!�	����()*+),-,./-)01)23)3-��4�����������������	��������������	5%������

��6!���	�����	�������7�5�5%����5����
�	5������6����������������	������5���������	������������������	 �����5�����������	��7�!�� 	���������6!���������	����������
���	��!������!����89������8:��%� ������������	�������%���
�	5���;<���������	�
�5��������

��

������������%��������������=����!������!����>?�;<��������5�5%������
��������� 	����!�� 	����%������������	��7������6�5!
�7�!��������������	������%���	�������6!������%��������������������������������������;<�����6!������	������������!�
	�	��
�!��!����7������6�5!
���
���	�����	���;<�����6!������	���������������������������!�!���7�%��@������!��	��	��
�����������
�	���������=���������� �����5���A	������B�����
�	���%��	����%����5�5%���%�������������������%���	%��������!������	���
�%�������
����������	������	���	���!!�� ���������C���	���>���'&$"���88>������������	 	�	��������	��%����������
� ��������	������������@������5�5%�����������	���5���%���	 �������������%���	!�	��?�;<���������	�����������	���=��
��������������5������������!����

��	 	�������5�����%����������	����	�?����D��&�!	��
�������	%
���6!��������	���5���%���
�	5���	��
����EFG�HIJKLMMFNO�LPQLNRLR�EJG�ST�QUVMFW�XIJNRQYIX�Z������������6!���	�����	��������	�������� �����%������

�������������	�������������	����������	�!�����	����EVG�ST�WJI�Z�[�5%���������������	�����������	������!�����5�����������	�����	����������5�

��!�	������

������������ ������	���������&����������!��	�
���
����� ��	������������!������!�� 		�%�
����EFFG�\YRXJOL�JN]�RXJXFYNLIT�&��������
����������

�7��6�
��	 �
��������������	
��	��������	������!�����5���������������	�������������	

���������	�������

�����������%���%��	�������5�����������	����EFFFG�HLMLQ̂YNL�&�������������

��5�������

�7��6�
��	 �
��������������	
��	������!�����5�����������	��������5�5%�������������	�������%���	 �����������!����������������
����������
�!�������
�������!�	 ��������	��5�������	��������
�	5�����
��%����������%���������Z��6�%
����	5%����5����5����%������������	�����������������	5%����5������ �����������������������	�	�
���

������
�	5�����
��%��5�����EFKG�_LWILXJIFJM�JRRFRXJNWL�&��������������������	�
����	�������	�����������

�7��6�
��	 �
��������������	
��	������!�����5�������������	
����	��7���������������	�������	������!�� 	����%������������	���������5�������
�	5���5����%���������%
��	����
��	����������5�5%��̀���

����������������������	��������	 ����&���'��!������5�����������������!!���	���� 	���������������
�	5��EKG�aFIL�Yb�IYYcR�������5�����	���!������������	���������5������̀������	��̀����!�%
	��5���	���7�������%B���	�������!
���	����!!
	���	��������
�	5��������%���

�����	�����!������������	���������5������!�����!�
	�	��
�!��!������
Page 54

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

���������������� !"#$%!&'�$()$*#$#�+��������	�	���
��������
���,-����������	��������.
	���/����
����01���
��	������������-��������2�23���4���2������������������	�����
�
�����������������	������2�23���/�������5������	

�����-�������������������	������6789�-��������.����2������������3����������������	��	�����������	

��������:�
������5�����;����<��	��1������5�����	�0�=�23�����
�	2	���2�����������	���2������	

���5�����������������	�	���
��2�����	����

��>���	�	���3��������������������,-������������	�����
����,-
�	����	��-������-���7?@�����7?A0�B��2�C��-�	
�D??8�2�23�������E	��������2����������2����E	����������2������	�������
���
�������	�������3��-�	������,F������

������������	23������������	�	���
��������
���,-������	����������	
�����E	��������2�0�G-����6D�-������E�����3��-�	���	�����������5	������������������
��2�����������	�	���
��,-����0���������2����������3��-�	��	���5	����������3��-��5	����������������������2������-�	���������������3
�����	2����������	�	���
������0�=�23�������������������	5������

������������������	�
�����������������H�	5�
�����2������,��-�����������������������	�
�������������������������	������67890�:��������������2�23��������
�������	�������������	���3�������2���������	5������2�����
���
�������	��/�����������2�23�������	5	���6D�-������E�	�����	�
�����������������������687����2�����	���0�������I�&$JK$�$()$*#$#�L!M�N$NO$M#�"#�*K�P%$�M�!Q*��$%�R&$#�L!M�O"#�*$##�PMJ�$&�S�����

��	�����
����--
�����2�C��-�	
�D??D����������������

�E	�������2	
������,-�����0�S���-��5	������
��/�	��
��	�������B	,���T���	������U���2�/����
�������--
�0�������
��,-������.	��
��	���
����	��������������-	��
��

�������1��������
������3���
�	2��0V4W��	��������5�
4�	�����5�
����������-�������	3���	��-������-��7?@�.��

�������	
������3��������	��:�
������5�����3��E
���XA?/�Y2-
�����S��5�
10�=�23���������������	������5��	�
�������3��	��������5�
��������2�

��-�	������

������������5������	�������0����2�

�/�������-��2���������3������������2�����-���2	
����������2	
��������5�

�����������	
�3��	�����3�������������
���3��	���������2������
�2-���2����-��	��	��-��2���0�;���5������������-�	�/��

�=	
������

�������T��2�����.�2������-�	���������2-
�����������	�����
���������,-��������
����������������3�������-����������3��	��������5�
�������	������5��	�
�1�������������	��������2�����0�=�23������������	5���-��������,F�����Z�--��5����2����Z��������	������	������5��	�
�������3��	��������5�
0�S�����-��2���������E���������--��5���=	
������

�������T��2����/�����=�T�0�S����=�T���2�����	����
��
�����3��2�
�	-
�	���������23������3��	�����2	
���	�������E	������5��	�
��3�������������������	��-�����-���2	
�0�S�������������S������������--
�����	
���������3��
������-�����������W������-������0��������������	

��
���3�������������������:�
������5�������3��	���.���0	�
�����5����0��50�E10�Y2-
������������������������������:�
������5���������	
�������,F������=�T�/���������������������E��-�����	�	�����������������������������-��2�����H��
	�	��������,�2-�	��0������2�����	���,�������������=�T���2�����	����,�3
����������
��3����-������������2�TA[����T77[\�	��2�23��������	5��
���������������2����/�������������	�
������=	
������

���������
	��0�B�����������	
���3�����=�T������������,��	������2�����2	
������

��������������

������3��������	��������5�����
���
���:�7DX�4G�	������������5��	�
���������E4������+�D/�4Y2-
����4��B���������	������T�]Y������:��40�B����:��/���������������������2���������
	����	����:���
	�3	
	������2����	����,-�����������
���	�������������C��-�	
�D??D0�U���-������-��79D�����2����	����2��	��0��������̂P%$M�$()$*#$#�
Page 55

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

��������������������	����������� ������������!���������������!������
��"���	��������������	��#���������$�#�����!�����������%�	����!	��������������	
����������� ���	����$���&'()�*+�,-.'/0-�123-�4-5�6'0-��������!��� 78 ����������	����98:888��	
���� ;< ���������������������
�� ;7 �=�

��	
��>����
��� ;8 �=�

��	
��>�?3.-5�4*'(3@�/*(/-5('(A�2�6-6B-5C@�32D�2++2'5@�EFGHIJIGKLGMLNOKOMIPJLIKLQIKRL9;S$�"���������������	!��� ��������=	��
��	����

��

���������������������������	�� �	���������>����������	����������������

	���TU:<88����������������=�����������������	��������� �����>�����	
������������ �������������"�� ���������V����W99X$����� �������������	
������
������	!����������������$�=���������������	��	����	�� ��	�	���������������	!������	
	�	�����������������	
������������	�����������
��������������
���
�"�� ������������!	��$>�9;U$�����������������	����������� ��!	�	���������	�������������	��:���������	�
����	������:�����	������������������	
	�	���������	�	
����������������������	��Y�� ���	���$�"������������	��� ��!	������  
	���������!	�������������������������Y������:�����������������	����	��������
������������� ��!	�	��������	���������
�������������� ����������	�����	������������������� �	!���� �� �����	�������	��	�	����$�"������������	�	���������������:���

�����	
������������� ��!	�����������"�
������!��������������W99X:��	������� �� ��!	��������������:���������������
	��	
	���������	��$�9;Z$�[��������������	��� ��!	������� ������%�	 ����������������������� ��������	�����	����������:������	����T<88�������������	���������	������ ����������$�9\8$�"�����������	��� �	��������������������!������
� �����	����

����������������������	���������������	����

��	���������������%����������
� ������������
��������]���������W�̂ _$�"��	��	��	� ���	�
������  
��W�̂ _:��������� 
��������������������	��� ����̀�	�	���#�
������	����
�:�����������	���������	!������	
�����������!�����������������������������������$�#�����������	

��������!����� ��������������������� �	���������������	��$�[��������������	��� ������������������"���������������	��������������Y���������
�
���������a� �� ����:��������� ��a����������������	������� �������	

	�������������������������

�:�����bc�������a�����	�� ���	�
����������������	������� �	!������

�:�����bc������ �	!��������	�������	��	�	����������������	����������������� ����������$�deOFfPIGKLGMLEghiL9\9$�#���	����

����������������W�̂ _�������$�#���������������������������������������	����� ������������������������	��������������������Y�������������	��$�"��	��� ���������������	

��������a������!������W�̂ _���������������]�����������a��	�������������� ��������	�������������	�
���������� �� ����$�"������"�� ������	�����	��	����	����������	����� ��!	���:�������������������������������	

������!	��������������������	��
	����������������������������������������������������	�������	����	

�����!�	
��
�$�j�����	�����a���� ��������������������������������������	!����������������=���� ������ ���9;S�����9;U>$�#�������������������  
�:��������� 
�����bc�������	���

������k
Page 56

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

�����������������	�
��������	�	
	����

������������������� ������� ��

�����������!"����� ��

��������������

�������������
����������	

����	�����	�������	�������	#	���	��	���	��$�%&'()*+&),-.,./),)0*,'1,./),.-2,3)-&,456$�7�8�������������	#����9�������������
��	��
�����	�����������

����	��	���8��������	��:�
�!������8������9�������$�;�����	

��
���	��
�����

��
�	8��������	������8�<�$�455$�;��������
����������	����8�
�������9�����������<�������	����9����	������5=�:����8���������������������������9������	������������������>�
������#����������
��
�������	����9��	

��������8����?�����������	�����9�@��
���A6===B���������

����������������9������ ��C�DE�����������������	���
�$�45F$�;�������
	�����������	������<����	����9��������	��54�G������������������������������9�����$�45H$�;���>�
������#������	

�8�<�����������8�������$�>��������	����9�������I�����8�8��������
������	�����54�G������������������������������9�����$�45J$�7�8��������������������	#����9����������	

���#�����	����9�����<����������>�
������#�����	����������	�	���
����$�;��������
������������
�	8��������	����9����	��������������������������9������������$�K+&./)&,L01'&M-.L'0,45N$�>��8�8�������#������O����	����������������9��	��������8����������	���

�����������������
�������������	��;�9�"��	��$������	
�;��������� �P�����8�������������

��	�������	�	�����������������	���O����	��������������<���#	��������8�8��� ������
�$�QLRL(,*LS0L.-&L)T,45U$��	<�������	

���I��	#	���	��	���	����������	��!��
���������������8����9���	��	�
������
��������	���

�������������9������$�>������	��
��I����O��
	���������
	����9����	�����8����8������������	�	�������:���	����55J����55V�>;EC��6==5�!��9�
�	����	�������������4=U�����4=V����#�$�;�����

��	��������������������������������
������
���������	��
����	���8��������������	����	#	���	��	���	��$�QW'./L0S,45V$�E9����	�����������	������
���	��������������<�	������	�����������

�������9�
��	#�
��	������������8���������������	��$������O����
�����������	�����������	#��������9����	���������	#	���	��	���	���������	������
���	��$X4F=$�E9����	���

�I���������	�����������	#��������9����	���������
���	�����	���	��������	���
������	���8����������������	���8������������	�����
����	����O�	���I�������������������	��������������	�����������	�$��������
������	������������8���������	��������
���	������
�����������	���
��	��������������������	���������	���8�������������	��
������	���!�Y�����������	���8�	����	�	��I����I�������������
	��8��$�E9����	�������I������9�8�
�I�8�	��������������8���� ������
	�����
�����8�

�I����������I�O��
	���������������	��$�Z'0-.L'0T,4F4$�>�����	#	���	��	�����	���	#�������

���������������������8����������������

�������
����
���������������������	�I�	��	���9���8�
����
	<�
�����������������9����	��������
�����������	�
�$�;��������
���������
�8��������������
����	���!���������9����	��������
��������� ��������	
� �	�������$�;�	�����
�����
���������	���
�������	�������8�����������������������������	�������8������������$�
Page 57

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

���������������� �����!�"��	�	���#��$�����%��$�&���	��������	��������	�����"��	�
������������������	��$����������	��������������	��&
�������	��������#�����'���������	���#�������$�����������������������
���	���&�������	%	���	��	�����	�����	���	������"��	��$�������#���&�������!������(��������)����������	

$�����%��$���"�����������"���	����������#�����	���������*+,-.,/0+1-+,2��3��'�����	%	���	��	�����	���	%�������������	�#�����

���������	�����������������������#�����"����	��������������������������	�$������

�������	���������&
�������!����"���������������	��������������	���4��!��"����������!���������������!"���	�����#���������������

�������(��
	�	���������������	����5�
���������	�	����!"��������	�������	�����������

�$��!�
��	%�
��������������	
��	������"�����#���������������	�����
���6���	%	�����	����	

�(��
	�������������	���	�����������������������������	�	�����	���	��	��������"�	#��	
������"������
����"�
	�	��
����������%���	����#���	%	��&��	�������""�������&���	������������������	��������	���$�������!�"��	�	���#���&���	��������	��������	�����"��	�
������������������	������������	����������	�#����	��"�	������	��������������	������������	
6���	����������������#�������"��������"����������&���������	�����78+9:;<08+2��=������
�������	�	�����#��	#�����>��������	�������#������&��������������������������!�
	�&	
	�����	�����������	���	%	���	��	���	���	�����"��������!"������"��#�����#����������#�� ���"������"����&�%������
��	��	�����������������#���	���	��"����	���"�����	��	�������?�@���#������������%�

	����!"����������"��%	����������	#&����#������
������������!"������������	&
��������������
��������	&���	��"������"����AB������AC�	����
	>�
������	%���	��������!������(��������'�����	�	��$�	��	��
	>�
����������	�"�����	���D����"������"�����A4�����&�%�E����
��&����������	������"�������������������#�4��
	#	���	�����"���	�����(�	��#�����6F
Page 58

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

���������������� !"�#$$%&'()�!�'(*�+',-%('$�.(!/ '()��)%(, -�/,-%(!�0+.1!2�.(, %*/),-%(�3456�������������������7�8��8����9�:�:;����<�����	

�����������=�����	

���>�����������������:8
�����6�?��������
	�;
�����8������	���
�@��������������	;��	��������:8
���������������������������	A����:������	����

���������������;�A�������������
�����������	;��	���6�34B6�C������

������������8�	������	��������	����A�
�9���������	����8��	�����������������:����������	���
�@��������������	;��	����	���������������	����A�
������	��������

�������	��8�	�6�D����7�:8
�9�	�����������:����;�����������
���
�������	�����������:�:;���	��EF�������G��	���

��������	

�;��8�	��:����
��EF��������8��	�
����8���	;	
	����

��������	

�;��8�	��H������
��EF�������8�������I�������I��

��������	

�;��8�	�������

����������	����8��	���	��:����
�6��
����3����	���
�@��������������	;��	�������
��;������	����������
�����	����	��������7�:�����������������:����
���������
�����������	;��	���6�34J6�K�:;�����;�A������������8���	�������<5L�����:�������5M�������:��>���������
	�;
�����������	;��	����������	���

�������6�G�������������	���<�������A���8���������

�������>�	��
	�;
�����8��������:8
����I�������	;��	��6�D���������������	
�9�����
���
�����M3�N���	���
�@��������������:8
�����N��	

�;����
8��
6�.O�P%/�Q'R���% ��,Q'(�%(��S%��34T6�K�:;�����	����������:8
��:���������88
�����������8��:������������	;��	����	��������78�������8������������
�:�7	:�:�	��������:8
��:���6�?�	�����������������������:8
����I��
	�;	
	������8��������	;��	������������88��8�	�����	:�6�D���������������	
������
���
�����M36�U�(� '$��VW�(!�!�3LM6�@����:���	���:���������78��������	�������8�	�������	:;������;������:8
���������;���	�����������������
��
��	������	���
�@��������������	;��	���6�@������:8
�����:�X�����8��:����	�����8��������8��	�	������	����	�	�;
���78��������	������������

��	��������;����:�:;���	�������	��������	�����	������������;���	���������6�K�:;����:�����A�����8�����������	8�������������A	������������	���78�������������	�:������:�������	�������;���	���������6�G���	�������78�����8��:����	����A�����������7�;�����	�8�����	������	��������	���	

�����:��	��

��;������8��������������:����������
���;���	�����������������
��
��	������	���
�@��������������	;��	���6�Y�
	X��������7�8��	�	��9������
	���	���A�	
�;
��	�����8����������	���
�@��������������	;��	����	�������:8
���������;�����������������:��
A����	��������	:;����:����;�������:8
����6Z3L36�?������������78��������	���:���;���;
�����;���	����������	��
����������

��	���EF?��A�

	����78������[F;��8�;
	�������8���6�?�����	:;����:����������A�
�������	��������	���������	����	���;��	�����\������������;���	�����������������	���
�@��������������	;��	����8��8�����[F;�����6�]���������	���������8������8���3L̂�=�3L4�;�
��6�EF_���������������	�����6�?��������
�������	��������	�������	��������������	�������;���	����������	����	:;������;�������:8
����6�EF?�
�8����������6���	:;����:���������������������

��:����	�������	��������������	�������;���	����������;���������	:;����:������������
��������	

�����������
	�;	
	����������	���
�@��������������	;��	������
����������
�8�����	���A�	
�;
���7�
��	A�
������;��	��������6�
Page 59

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

��������������������������������������������	�������

�������������	��������� �!"#�������	�
����	������ �$�������������������	�
����	�������	��������	������������������	��������������	�������������
���������	���	����	������������������
�������������������	�������	����������	�����	����
�%���������	�����������������	���
�&��������������	���	����������� �!"'	����������� �$�����	���������������������������	�	��������������
��(������	��(�������
	������	����	���������	����	������	�����	�����������	��������� �!"'������
���)������ �*������������	

���	����	���������������	�	���
��������
���)�������+����	��%�
	���	��%���� ,�	��������	����
��	������������������������������	�������������
�
��	�������	��������������	�������������
������%���������������������	�����������������
��
��	������	���
�&��������������	���	��� �&��
	����	���������)����������������������	�	���
������%������-����	
�.//0�1.��������2���������	�����������	��������	��������	����������� �'	�������������������
������	����������	��������	����	����������������	������	��������������

�������	������� �34546789�:;<:8=:=�>?. �#	����-����	
�.//.%����������������������������������������������
	����	����&���
	��	
	�����������	����)�������	��������������
�����������������	���������	�
����������	����������
 �$�����	������)	�������������������������	��������
�����%�	��������������

����	����������	����)������������	�����������������������	����	����
�����������%��	������	�����	������&���
	��	
	�� �>?0 �$����&����������	���
	�������������������	�
���	����������������@	
������

�������A��������+�@�A�,��������������)%���������������������	��������������������������������� �B����)���
�������	
��������������������������������������
��
����������)	��������������
�������������������������&���
	��	
	���	�������	�����������������������������������>.-+�			,������%�	��������	�����������������������	������	
��������

�������������
���� C>?D �B���������	�����������������&��������	����)���������������������������	��������������
���
���&�>.D�(E�	���������������	�
���������2(������*�.%�(F��
����(��B���������	������A�GF������&��( �H:8:I75=�>?? �*������������������	�������������+	��
��	����

��

�������������������������)�	����	���������,����������	����������������

	���1J%?//��������������������������	��������������������
����>���&���������������	�����������	�� �B���������	�������������������	������&�
���������������2
����*�? �>?- �@���������K�	�	��������������	��������	����)�������������������	��2	�����������	��������������
�������������	��
���
���)����	�� �LMM4NO8P:=�O8Q�:;<:8=:=�<O7Q�54�P7R7P�Q79875O67:=�>?S ��	�	���	��	���	��������
���������	�����
����%����%�
	2�������	

���%�����������������������
�������������	���
�&��������������	���	������������ �$������	

������
	��	
	�����������
����>����	���
�&��������������	���	����	�����������	�������	��������������
���
������������	�����������
� �$�����

��	���������������)�
�	�����������	������������)������������������������	�	���	��	���	����������������������	���
�&��������������	���	������������ �TM45U789�>?J �&�����	�	���	��	���������	��������)���������������������	������
���	��������������	���
����	�����������	������)�����%����	��	������	��������	�������	��������������
������ �&�������������	�����������������
��
��	������	���
�&��������������	���	��� �>?V �&����������������
������������	��������������������	�������	���	����K�	�������������������������������
������%������������	���
������������	������������������	���	

��������)������	��������	��
Page 60

Item 6Appendix 2,



���������	
������	���	������	�������������
��	�����������
�������	����

����������������	��������������
����������	�����
�����
� ������!���
� �	�����������������������������������
����������	�	
�������
	��"�����������������	�����#����$����	�������
������	��%��&'()*+'(,�-./��0�����	1	���	��	���������	1�������!��������������2�

����������������	������	���	��� �����	��3
�������	��������	��� ����������������3���	�����������������
��
��	������	���
�0��������������	3��	����	�����������	��������	�����������������������
����4��3���
����������	
������#����������������	���������	�����5(*67*)+(86(*�-.-��0�����	1	���	��	���������	1�������!��������������2�

�������������	1�����������	����� ������������	�1�
1����������3���	�����������������
��
��	������	���
�0��������������	3��	�����9:�*;6�<)=86(*�+,�:'7�)�>?,+(6,,�:?(@*+'(�A;676�*;6�@',*,�)76�,?<<'7*6B�>=�+*68+,6B�>+CC,D�*;6�)8'?(*�@)(�>6�B+,76E)7B6B�),�)�>?,+(6,,�6F<6(,6�>6@)?,6�+*�A+CC�>6�+(@?776B�+(�@)77=+(E�'?*�*;6�B?*+6,�':�*;6�68<C'=86(*G�H;+,�A+CC�)<<C=D�:'7�6F)8<C6D�A;676�*;6�8)='7�;),�76@6+<*,�:'7�*;6�)8'?(*�,<6(*�'(�)�>?,+(6,,�C?(@;�;',*6B�:'7�I+,+*+(E�'::+@+)C,GJ��	����	������	��	��������������	���
���
�������	�	���	�����	�����
	���	��������������
�������	�	���$K��3���4��

�������%�$L��
���%�����
��	����M//-��0�����1	������1	����3���������

����������	�������3����	������
���������3��� ���������	����������	��������������������	�������
������������N�	������������������3
	���	����������	
���3�������3���4��

���������0�������	��������3	���	�����������	��	������������	���������������1	�	��� �������������	�����������	���
���
�������	�	����������1����������������"������������	�������
Page 61

Item 6Appendix 2,



This page is intentionally left blank



Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to: Constitutional and Nomination Committee – 4 October 2023 
 Council - 4 October 2023. 
 
Subject: Appointment of an additional Independent Person for 

consideration of complaints against Members,  
 
Report of: The City Solicitor 
 
 
Summary 
 
To  enable the Constitutional and Nomination Committee to consider the appointment 
of an additional Independent Person to assist the Council’s Monitoring Officer in 
dealing with allegations that members of the Council have acted in breach of the 
Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Constitution and Nomination Committee: 
 

The Committee is asked to support the recommendation that the Council 
appoint William Goh as an Independent Person for period of four years 
starting 4 October 2023. 

 
Council: 
 

The Council is asked to agree to appoint William Goh as an Independent 
Person for period of four years starting 4 October 2023. 

 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
in meeting our Public Sector Equality Duty and broader equality commitments 
 
 
none 

 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 
None  

Page 63

Item 7



Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of how this report aligns to the 
OMS/Contribution to the Strategy  

A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and 
distinctive economy that creates 
jobs and opportunities 

Not directly applicable  

A highly skilled city: world class 
and home grown talent sustaining 
the city’s economic success 

Not directly applicable 

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

Not directly applicable 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, 
work 

Not directly applicable 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to 
drive growth 

Not directly applicable 

 
Full details are in the body of the report, along with any implications for: 
 
 Equal Opportunities Policy  
 Risk Management  
 Legal Considerations  
 
Financial Consequences – Revenue  
The Council provides an allowance to its independent persons of £1,910 per annum 
and £119 for each day attended at a Hearing Panel as a Panel Member. 
 
Financial Consequences – Capital 
 None  
Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  Fiona Ledden  
Position:  City Solicitor  
Telephone:  0161 234 3087  
E-mail:  
  

fiona.ledden@manchester.gov.uk  

Name:  Poornima Karkera  
Position:  Assistant Director Legal and Democratic Services: 

Governance  
Telephone:  0161 234 3719  
E-mail:  poornima.karkera@manchester.gov.uk    
 
 
 

Page 64

Item 7



Background documents (available for public inspection): 
 
None. 
 
 
 

Page 65

Item 7



1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Section 28 (7) of the Localism Act 2011 requires all English local authorities to 

appoint Independent Persons (IPs) to help them to discharge their duty to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct by their Councillors and co-
opted members and any Parish Councillors.  

 
1.2 The  main roles of the Independent Person are to: 
 

 assist the Council in promoting high standards of conduct by elected and co-
opted members 

 be consulted by the Council’s Monitoring Officer and/or the Standards 
Committee before a decision is made following the investigation of a 
complaint. The Independent Person may also be consulted before a decision 
is taken as to whether to investigate a complaint or whether the complaint 
should be resolved by an alternative means 

 be available for consultation by an elected or co-opted member who is the 
subject of a standards complaint 

 
1.3  The Council has delegated to the Standards Committee the power to deal with 
matters of conduct and ethical standards, and the promoting and maintaining of high 
standards of conduct by Councillors, Co-opted Members and church and parent 
governor representatives.  
 
1.4 The Council currently has 2 Independent Persons whose terms of office were 
extended by the Council to 18 November 2026 as recommended by the Standards 
Committee at its meeting in June 2022 and reported to the Constitution and 
Nominations Committee in July 2022. The Standards Committee in addition to 
supporting the extension of the term of office of the current 2 Independent Persons 
endorsed the recruitment of an additional Independent Person to support on dealing 
with Complaints relating to Members. 
 
1.5 An IP must be a person who has applied for the post following advertisement of a 
vacancy for the post and appointed by a positive vote from a majority of all the 
Members of the Council at a meeting of the full Council.  
 
1.6 The Council delegated to the Monitoring Officer the making of arrangements for 
the recruitment and selection of Independent Persons, whose appointment must be 
approved by a majority of the Members of the Council in accordance with Section 
28(8)(c)(ii) of the Localism Act.  
 
1.7 Recruitment has now taken place for this additional Independent Person, and  the 
Monitoring Officer has updated  the members of the Standards Committee that  
following  the  taking place of interviews she will be recommending to Council the 
appointment of William Goh to this role. Mr Goh is  currently an Independent Person 
for another Council, a role he has held since 2018. In interview he impressed with his 
suitability, experience and understanding of the role  
 
 
 

Page 66

Item 7



2.0 Recommendation 
 
The recommendation appears at the top of this report.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67

Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Access to the Council Antechamber

	4 Minutes
	5 Appointments and Changes to Council Committee Membership
	Manchester City Council
	Report for Resolution

	6 Review of Members' Allowances - GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Financial Consequences – Revenue
	Financial Consequences – Capital - None.
	Appendix 1 - Independent Remuneration Panel Report
	Appendix 2 - Government guidance

	7 Appointment of an additional Independent Person for consideration of complaints against Members
	Manchester City Council
	Report for Resolution
	Report of:	The City Solicitor
	Recommendation
	Wards Affected: All
	Contact Officers:
	Background documents (available for public inspection):







